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OFFICE OF THE MAYOR
CITY OF CHICAGO

RAHM EMANUEL
MAYOR

June 29, 2018

Dear Chicagoans:

Thank you for your interest in the City of Chicago’s Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report (“CAFR”) for the 2017 fiscal year. The 2017 CAFR presents a transparent, accurate and
complete accounting of Chicago’s finances. For the sixth consecutive year, the independent
auditors found no material weakness.

We have been deliberate in making strategic financial decisions and identifying operational
efficiencies because we know that decisions we make today will have a lasting impact for years to
come. In 2017, Chicago made significant progress towards improving our long-term financial and
economic security. The 2017 fiscal year was the first year the City of Chicago was not forced to
confront an immediate pension crisis that threatened the retirement of City employees and our
financial and economic future. All four of the City’s pension funds have a dedicated funding
source in place and are on the road to solvency for the first time in over a decade.

On top of addressing our pension challenges, we built on our work since 2011 to create
more certainty in our fiscal outlook by further reducing the City’s structural budget deficit and
eliminating risky debt instruments — variable rate debt, swaps and “scoop and toss” — all while
continuing to confidently invest in Chicago’s neighborhoods, youth, and public safety. In 2017,
we kicked-off the first year of two-year hiring surge at the Chicago Police Department, launched
the City-issued universal ID called the “CityKey”, and invested $64 million in youth programming,
{rom summer jobs to mentoring and afterschool curriculum. We have tripled our investments in
Chicago’s next gencration since 2011, because when we invest in our children’s future, we give
them the confidence to believe in their own futures.

As we recognize the significant progress we’ve made thus far, we will not stop building on
this momentum by further reforming city operations, confronting our financial challenges head on,
and making additional investments in our neighborhoods, infrastructure, youth, and public safety.

Sincerely,

,——> g |

Mayor
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DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE
CITY OF CHICAGO

June 29, 2018

To the Honorable Mayor Rahm Emanuel, Members of the City Council, and Citizens of the City of Chicago:

We are pleased to submit the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (“CAFR”) of the City of Chicago for the fiscal
year that ended December 31, 2017. State law requires that all governmental units publish financial statements
presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and audited by a licensed public
accountant within six months of the close of each fiscal year.

Responsibility for both the accuracy of the data and completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all
disclosures, rests with management. The purpose of the CAFR is to provide complete and accurate financial
information which complied with the reporting requirements of the Municipal Code of Chicago (“Code”). The City’s
financial management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control structure designed to
ensure that the assets of the government are protected from loss, theft, or misuse and to ensure that adequate
accounting data is compiled to allow for the preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP.

The internal control structure is designed to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance that these objectives
are met. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of control should not exceed the benefits
likely to be derived and the valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management.

The Code also requires that the City’s basic financial statements are audited by independent certified public
accountants selected by the Committee of Finance of the City Council. This requirement has been met, and the
unmodified audit opinion rendered by Deloitte & Touche LLP is included in the financial section of this report. The
audit was conducted as a subcontractor arrangement between Deloitte & Touche LLP and a consortium of
Chicago-based minority - and women-owned certified public accounting firms.

In addition to meeting the requirements set forth in the Code, an additional audit (Single Audit Act Amendments of
1996, Government Auditing Standards, and Office of Management and Budget's (OMB) Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards) designed to meet the requirements of
the OMB Uniform Guidance, a government-wide framework for grants management, is performed annually. GAAP
requires that management provided a narrative introduction, overview and analysis to accompany the basic
financial statements in the form of a Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). The letter of transmittal is
designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The City's MD&A can be found
immediately following the report of the independent auditors.



Profile of the Government. The City of Chicago, the third most populated city in the United States, was
incorporated in 1837. It occupies land area of approximately 228 square miles and, according to the 2010 census,
serves a population of more than 2.7 million residents. The City is a municipal corporation and home rule unit of
local government under the lllinois Constitution of 1970 and is governed by an elected mayor and city council. The
Mayor is the Chief Executive Officer of the City of Chicago and is elected by general election to a four-year term.
The City Council, the City’s legislative body, consists of 50 members, each representing one of the City’s 50 wards.
The members of the City Council are elected through popular vote by ward to a four-year term. The City provides
public safety, street maintenance, sanitation services, water and sewer services, health, cultural, aviation and
human services.

General Government Services (“General Fund”). The General Fund is the City’s general operating fund and
supports essential City services and activities, such as police and fire protection, trash collection, and public health
programs. The General Fund also supports a portion of the City’s share of pension contributions for its employees.
General Fund revenues come primarily from a variety of local and intergovernmental taxes, fees and fines.

In addition to general government services, the City has component units that are included in its reporting entity
because of the significance of their operational and/or financial relationships. These component units include the
Municipal Employees’ Annuity and Benefit Fund of Chicago, Laborers’ Annuity and Benefit Fund, Policemen’s
Annuity and Benefit Fund, the Firemen's Annuity and Benefit Fund, and the Sales Tax Securitization Corporation
(“STSC”). Additional information about these component units can be found in the notes to the financial
statements.

Budget Process. Annual budgets are adopted for all of the City’s funds, including the general fund and certain
special revenue and enterprise funds. On or before October 15, the Mayor submits a proposed budget of
expenditures and the means required and at least one public hearing is held regarding the proposed budget. The
budget recommendation must be made available for public inspection at least ten days prior to the passage of the
annual appropriation ordinance, which must be enacted by December 31. Additional information on the budgetary
process can be found in Note 3 of the notes in the financial statements.

Local Economy. Chicago continues to have one of the world’s most robust and diverse economies with no single
industry employing more than 12 percent of the City’s workforce. This diversity provides financial stability from
mature industries in business and financial services, manufacturing, transportation and warehousing, education and
healthcare, and enables the City to promote the growth of emerging industries in technology, tourism, biotech, and
life sciences. Chicago has more than 400 major corporate headquarters (with at least 1,000 employees) located in
the Chicago metropolitan area, including 34 Fortune 500 companies. For the fifth year in a row, the Chicago area
was recognized in 2017 by Site Selection Magazine as having more new and expanded corporate facilities than
any other metro area with a population over one million.

Chicago remains a global financial and trading center and accounts for one fifth of the world’s global derivatives
trading market, which is two times the size of New York City’s market. Chicago-based exchanges generated $4.9
billion in annual global derivatives trading volume with a notional value of more than one quadrillion dollars in 2017.
The Chicago Board Options Exchange is the largest options exchange in the United States, and Chicago-
headquartered CME Group is the top derivatives exchange in the world.

For the first time in 2017, Chicago led all major cities in the Americas for Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) Strategy
according to fDi Magazine’'s The American Cities of the Future. As the home to 80 consulates and honorary
consulates, 100 international/ethnic chambers of commerce and international trade-based organizations, Chicago
continues to be the global gateway for international business activity with more than 1,800 foreign-based
companies representing over $100 billion in foreign direct investment.

Chicago’s aviation system is at the nexus of global travel. Serving more than 79 million passengers in 2017,
Chicago’s O’Hare International Airport -- a dual hub to American and United Airlines -- serves a total of 46 domestic
and international carriers, operates 185 gates, and provides concessions from more than 174,000 square feet of
airport space. Midway Airport, the City’s second airport facility serves international and regional jet activity from five
active runways. It operates from 43 gates and offers a variety of 49 concessionaires to the traveling public.
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Both airports are self-supporting, using no local or state tax dollars for operations or capital improvements.
Together Chicago’s airport system generates more than $45 billion in annual economic activity and has created
540,000 jobs for the region.

In addition, Chicago continues to be a destination for both business and leisure travelers, drawn by the City’s
numerous cultural attractions, professional sports teams, festivals, museums, parks, restaurants and more.
Tourism has grown substantially in recent years with a record 55.2 million visitors citywide in 2017, an increase of
2.5 percent over the prior year. Chicago’s tourism industry supported 146,500 jobs in 2017, which is a 17 percent
increase since 2011. Millennium Park was named the #1 attraction in the Midwest and among the top 10 most
visited sites in the US with 12.9 million guests just in the second half of 2016.

Economic Development. A sign of Chicago’s strong economic growth, the City has seen a 400 percent increase
in the number of tower cranes operating in Chicago in 2017 compared to 2010. In 2017, there were 60 tower
cranes operating in the City, breaking records for the most tower cranes to operate in one year since the height of
the Great Recession.

In 2017, the Chicago Riverwalk and the Chinatown Branch of the Chicago Public Library received recognition from
the Architizer A+ Award — the largest awards program focused on promoting and celebrating the year's best
architecture and products. The Chicago Riverwalk was recognized in the Architecture and Urban Transformation
category and the Chinatown Branch Library was recognized in the Institution-Libraries category. The Chinatown
Branch Library opened in August 2015. The most recent expansion of the Chicago Riverwalk to Wolf Point opened
to the public in fall 2016.

Community investments like the Neighborhood Opportunity Fund are helping to generate an economic boost to a
diverse mix of small businesses and services by providing grant funding to local entrepreneurs to expand, rehab,
repair and grow their commercial businesses and cultural institutions in 2017. Through partnerships with downtown
developments and corporate leaders, the Neighborhood Opportunity Fund has leveraged downtown growth to
generate money for neighborhood economies, helping more than 30 small businesses in some of Chicago’s
underserved communities.

Debt Administration. The City regularly accesses the debt markets to fund its capital needs. The City actively
manages its debt portfolio to ensure that it sufficiently supports essential capital improvement projects without over
burdening taxpayers. As of December 31, 2017 the City has approximately $9.7 billion of general obligation debt
outstanding. Overall general obligation debt increased by $660 million in 2017 as a result of the issuance of
General Obligation Project and Refunding Bonds, Series 2017AB in the early part of the year and the refunding of
certain other callable general obligation bonds by the STSC. The AAA/AAA/AA rated Sales Tax Securitization
Revenue Bonds, Series 2017ABC refunding bonds issued by the STSC achieved $46.3 million in present value
savings in debt service for City taxpayers.

In addition to its general obligation debt, the City issues revenue debt secured by the following revenues: general
airport revenues, water and wastewater fee revenue, and motor fuel tax revenue. Additional information on the
City’'s outstanding indebtedness can be found in Note 9 of the notes in the financial statements.

Long Term Planning and Major Initiatives. Each year the City of Chicago presents an Annual Financial Analysis
based on the critical understanding that to protect the health and safety of all Chicagoans, strengthen
neighborhoods, maintain infrastructure and public spaces, and foster a vibrant local economy, it must take an
informed and long-term approach to financial planning. The Annual Financial Analysis, which is available on the
City's website, provides a review of the City’'s revenues and expenditures over the past ten years, forecast of the
City's finances for the next three years, and analyses of its liquidity, pensions, debt obligations, tax increment
financing, and capital improvement program.

The City bases its annual budget on an assessment of the available resources for that year and an understanding
of the City's service priorities, adopting a balanced budget each year in accordance with the lllinois Municipal Code.
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As part of the annual budget process, the City evaluates each department’s direct and indirect costs in order to
accurately assess expenses across City government and strives to maintain a diversified revenue system that is
responsive to the changing economy and designed to protect the City from short-term fluctuations in any individual
revenue source. The City's financial policies are intended to secure the City’s financial integrity and health,
encourage equitable allocation of costs and resources, and identify potential financial risks and options to mitigate,
maximize economic efficiency, and allow sufficient flexibility to consider new fiscal and budgetary strategies.

Awards and Acknowledgements. The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and
Canada (“GFOA") awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of
Chicago for its CAFR in the fiscal year 2016. This was the twenty-fourth consecutive year that the City has
received this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must
publish an easily readable and efficiently organized CAFR. This report must satisfy both GAAP and applicable
legal requirements. A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year.

We believe our current CAFR continues to meet the GFOA Certificate of Achievement program’s requirements, and
it has been submitted for consideration for this year's award.

This report could not have been prepared without the dedication and effective help of staff of the Department of
Finance. We wish to express our appreciation to those who contributed to the preparation of this report.

Respectfully submitted,

CM% btu/t&d g/fz’m/ Qe

Carole L. Brown Erin Keane
Chief Financial Officer City Comptroller
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- Deloitte & Touche LLP
111 South Wacker Drive
' Chicago, IL 60606-4301

USA

Tel: +1 312 486 1000
Fax:+1 312 486 1486
www.deloitte.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Honorable Rahm Emanuel, Mayor
and Members of the City Council
City of Chicago, lllinois

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of
the City of Chicago, lllinois (the “City”), as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017,
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s
basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.
We did not audit the financial statements of the City’s Pension Plans (the “Plans™), which, in
aggregate, represent 100 percent, 95 percent, and 100 percent, respectively, of the
revenues, assets, and net position of the fiduciary funds, included in the aggregate
remaining fund information. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose reports
have been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for
the Plans, is based solely on the reports of the other auditors. We conducted our audit in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.



We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial
statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial
position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and
the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Chicago, lllinois, as of

December 31, 2017, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable,
cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America and the respective budgetary
comparison statements for the General Fund and Pension Special Revenue Fund on the
budgetary basis of accounting.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Schedule of Changes in the Net Pension Liability and
Related Ratios, Schedule of Contributions, and Schedule of Other Postemployment Benefits
Funding Progress as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic
financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it
to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We and other auditors have applied
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing
the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to
express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements
that collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The Combining and
Individual Fund Statements, introductory section, and statistical section are presented for
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The Combining and Individual Fund Statements are the responsibility of management and
were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used
to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to
the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America by us and other
auditors. In our opinion, based on our audit, the procedures performed as described above,
and the reports of the other auditors, the Combining and Individual Fund Statements are
fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.
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The introductory section and the statistical section have not been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

edoitie %MLL LER

June 29, 2018
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

As management of the City of Chicago, lllinois (City) we offer readers of the City’s Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report (CAFR) this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2017. We encourage the readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with
information that we have furnished in our letter of transmittal, contained within this report.

2017 Financial Highlights

Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of the City, in the government-wide financial statements, exceeded its assets and
deferred outflows at the close of the most recent fiscal year by $28,368.1 million (net deficit). The net deficit is
composed of $3,314.9 million in net investment in capital assets and $3,284.1 million in net position restricted for
specific purposes offset by an unrestricted deficit of $34,967.1 million. The net deficit increased in 2017 by
$938.2 million due to expenses being greater than revenues for 2017.

The City's total assets increased by $3,593.8 million. This increase primarily relatesto a $1,109.2 million
increase in capital assets as a result of the City's capital improvement program, and a $1,210.6 million and
$1,014.8 million increase in cash, cash equivalents and investments in the proprietary and governmental funds,
respectively due to issuance of debt.

The City’s deferred outflows and total liabilities decreased by $1,668.5 million and $4,634.8 million, respectively,
and the City’s deferred inflows increased by $7,498.3 million. These were primarily related to the decrease in the
net pension liability as a result of the changes under Public Act 100-0023 (P.A. 100-0023) which requires
increased future contributions to the Municipal Employees’ Annuity Benefit Fund of Chicago (Municipal
Employees’) and the Laborers’ and Retirement Board Employees’ Annuity and Benefit Fund of Chicago
(Laborers’). The increase in future required contributions increased the discount rate used to determine the total
pension liability and therefore decreased the pension liability.

Total Revenues and Other Financing Sources (Uses), in the fund financial statements, during 2017 were $8,057.0
million, an increase of $714.7 million (9.7%) from 2016, primarily due to the increased proceeds from debt.

The General Fund ended 2017 with a total Fund Balance of $288.4 million, of which $155.5 million was
Unassigned. Total Fund Balance increased from 2016 primarily because Revenues and Other Fihancing
Sources were greater than Expenditures and Other Financing Uses by $16.6 million.

The City's General Obligation Bonds and notes outstanding increased by $513.6 million during the current fiscal
year. The proceeds from the issuance of General Obligation Bonds were used to fund capital projects, refund or
pay interest on all or a portion of certain outstanding general obligation bonds, fund capitalized interest and pay
costs of issuance.

The General Fund expenditures on a budgetary basis were $96.1 million less than budgeted as a result of
variances in general government expenditures primarily due to lower than anticipated personnel costs.

During 2017, the City entered into an Assignment, Purchase and Sale Agreement with the newly-formed Sales
Tax Securitization Corporation (STSC). The STSC is a special purpose not-for-profit, non-stock corporation
which provides benefits exclusively to the City, and as a result, is presented as a blended component unit of the
City. The STSC issued $743.7 million in bonds, the proceeds of which were applied by the City to refund certain
outstanding City bonds.

Overview of the Basic Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements, which
include the following components: (1) government-wide financial statements, (2) fund financial statements, and (3)
notes to the basic financial statements. This report also contains required supplementary information and other
supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements. These components are described below:
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Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide
readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances, using accounting methods similar to those used by private-
sector companies. The statements provide both short-term and long-term information about the City’s financial
position, which assists in assessing the City’'s economic condition at the end of the fiscal year. These financial
statements are prepared using the flow of economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting. This basically means such statements follow methods that are similar to those used by most businesses.
They take into account all revenues and expenses connected with the fiscal year even if cash involved has not been
received or paid.

The government-wide financial statements include two statements:

The statement of net position presents information on all of the City’s assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and
deferred inflows with the difference reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may
serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating, respectively. To
assess the overall health of the City, the reader should consider additional non-financial factors such as changes in
the City’s property tax base and the condition of the City’s infrastructure.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s net position changed during each
fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs,
regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for
some items that will only result in cash flows in future periods (for example, uncollected taxes, and earned but unused
vacation). This statement also presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for each
function of the City.

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported by
taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all
or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental
activities of the City include general government, public safety, streets and sanitation, transportation, health, and
cultural and recreation. The business-type activities of the City include water, sewer, tollway and airport services.

The government-wide financial statements present information about the City as a primary government, which
includes the Chicago Public Library. The government-wide financial statements can be found immediately following
this management’s discussion and analysis.

Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources
that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local governments, uses
fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of
the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.

Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial
statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources,
as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of a fiscal year. Such information may be useful
in evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is
useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the
long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and
the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to
facilitate the comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.

The City maintains 22 individual governmental funds. Information for the eight funds that qualify as major is

presented separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues,
expenditures, and changes in fund balances. The eight major governmental funds are as follows: the General Fund,
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the Federal, State and Local Grants Fund, the Special Taxing Areas Fund, the Service Concession and Reserve
Fund, the Bond, Note Redemption and Interest Fund, the STSC Debt Service Fund, the Community Development
and Improvement Projects Fund, and the Pension Fund. Data from the other governmental funds is combined into a
single, aggregated presentation.

The City adopts an annual appropriation budget for its general and certain special revenue funds on a non-GAAP
budgetary basis. A budgetary comparison statement has been provided for the General Fund to demonstrate
compliance with this budget. The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found immediately following
the government-wide statements.

Blended Component Unit. The STSC component unit, despite being legally separate from the City, is reported as if
it were part of the City because, in addition to being financially accountable for it, the STSC provides services
exclusively to the City. The STSC blended component unit is reported as the STSC Debt Service Fund and a
Nonmajor Special Revenue Fund.

Proprietary funds. These funds are used to show activities that operate more like those of commercial enterprises.
Because these funds charge user fees for services provided to outside customers including local governments, they
are known as enterprise funds. Proprietary funds, like government-wide statements, use the accrual basis of
accounting and provide both long- and short-term financial information. There is no reconciliation needed between
the government-wide financial statements for business-type activities and the proprietary fund financial statements.
The City uses five enterprise funds to account for its water, sewer, Skyway, and two airports operations.

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, but provide
more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for the Water Fund, Sewer Fund,
Chicago Skyway Fund, Chicago-O’Hare International Airport Fund and the Chicago Midway International Airport
Fund. All the proprietary funds are considered to be major funds of the City. The basic proprietary fund financial
statements can be found immediately following the governmental fund financial statements.

Fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used primarily to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside
the primary government. The City is the trustee, or fiduciary, for its employees’ pension plans. It is also responsible
for other assets that, because of a trust arrangement can be used only for the trust beneficiaries. The City also uses
fiduciary funds to account for transactions for assets held by the City as agent for various entities. The City is
responsible for ensuring that the assets reported in these funds are used for their intended purposes. Fiduciary funds
are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources of those funds are not available
to support the City’'s own programs. All of the City's fiduciary activities are reported in a separate statement of
fiduciary net position and a statement of changes in fiduciary net position. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is
much like that used for proprietary funds. The fiduciary fund basic financial statements can be found immediately
following the proprietary fund financial statements.

Notes to the basic financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential for a full
understanding of data provided in the government—wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the basic
financial statements can be found immediately following the fiduciary fund basic financial statements.

Additional Information. The combining statements, which include nonmajor funds, for governmental funds and trust
and agency funds are presented immediately following the notes to the basic financial statements.

Financial Analysis of the City as a whole

Net Position. As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial
position. In the case of the City, liabilities and deferred inflows exceeded assets by $28,368.1 million at December
31, 2017. Of this amount, $3,314.9 million represents the City’s investment in capital assets (land, buildings, roads,
bridges, etc.) less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The City uses these capital
assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the
City’'s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to
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repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate
these liabilities and deferred inflows.

An additional portion of the City’s net position, $3,284.1 million, represents resources that are subject to external
restrictions on how they may be used.

City of Chicago, lllinois
Summary Statement of Net Position
(in millions of dollars)

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Current and other assets ................ $ 6,639.4 $ 5,451.0 $ 6,112.4 $ 4,816.2 $ 12,7518 $ 10,267.2
Capital assets ......ccccceevvveeriiireeninns 8,745.6 8,676.3 16,437.5 15,397.6 25,183.1 24,073.9

Total ASSELS ..oovveeeiieeiecee e 15,385.0 14,127.3 22,549.9 20,213.8 37,934.9 34,341.1
Deferred outflows ............cccceeveenee. 4,089.9 5,667.9 1,194.9 1,285.4 5,284.8 6,953.3

Total oo 19,474.9 19,795.2 23,744.8 21,499.2 43,219.7 41,294.4
Long-term liabilities outstanding ..... 37,411.5 43,065.4 18,771.4 18,351.4 56,182.9 61,416.8
Other liabilities .........c.ccoeiiiriienenne 2,364.5 1,947.5 1,521.5 1,339.4 3,886.0 3,286.9

Total Liabilities ........cccceeeeieenene 39,776.0 45,012.9 20,292.9 19,690.8 60,068.9 64,703.7
Deferred INfIOWS ........ccccoeeviveiennnene 8,413.7 2,254.5 3,105.2 1,766.1 11,518.9 4,020.6
Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets ..... (551.1) (65.5) 3,866.0 3,373.1 3,314.9 3,307.6
Restricted .....ccvoveeviieieieeiieiee 2,416.1 2,269.6 868.0 879.9 3,284.1 3,149.5
unrestricted .......ccocoveeeiiiniieiienee (30,579.8) (29,676.3) (4,387.3) (4,210.7) (34,967.1) (33,887.0)

Total net (deficit) position ............ $ (28,714.8) $ (27,472.2) $  346.7 $ 42.3 $ (28,368.1) $ (27,429.9)

Governmental Activities. Net position of the City’s governmental activities decreased $1,242.6 million to a deficit of
$28,714.8 million primarily due to expenses being greater than revenues and transfers in for 2017. A significant
portion of net position is either restricted as to the purpose they can be used for or they are classified as net
investment in capital assets (buildings, roads, bridges, etc.). Consequently, unrestricted net position showed a
$30,579.8 million deficit at the end of this year. This deficit does not mean that the City does not have the resources
available to pay its bills next year. Rather, it is the result of having long-term commitments that are greater than
currently available resources. Specifically, the City did not include in past annual budgets the full amounts needed to
finance future liabilities arising from personnel, property, pollution and casualty claims ($1,047.8 million) and
Municipal Employees’, Laborers’, Policemen’s and Firemen’s net pension liability and other post-employment benefits
($25,246.6 million). The City will include these amounts in future years’ budgets as they come due. In addition, the
deferred inflow balance of $1,513.2 million from concession service agreements will be amortized into income over
the life of such agreements.

Revenues for all governmental activities in 2017 were $6,935.4 million, an increase of $196.0 million from 2016. Over
half of the City’s revenues were derived from taxes which increased by $190.8 million (4.7%). Total tax revenue
included an increase in property taxes received of $62.7 million (5.0%).

Expenses for governmental activities in 2017 were $8,180.2 million, a decrease of $1,998.1 million (19.6%) over
2016. This decrease is primarily due to a decrease in pension expense as a result of the changes under P.A. 100-
0023 which requires increased future contributions to Municipal Employees’ and Laborers’. The increase in future
required contributions increased the discount rate used to determine the total pension liability and decreased the
current year pension expense. The amount that taxpayers paid for these governmental activities through City taxes
was $4,286.0 million. Some of the cost was paid by those who directly benefited from the programs ($900.3 million),
or by other governments and organizations that subsidized certain programs with grants and contributions ($678.7
million).
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The City paid $1,070.4 million for the “public benefit” portion with other revenues such as state aid, interest and

miscellaneous income.

Although total net position of business-types activities was $346.7 million, these resources cannot be used to make
up for the deficit in net position in governmental activities. The City generally can only use this net position to finance
the continuing operations of the water, sewer, Skyway, and airports activities.

City of Chicago, lllinois
Changes in Net Position

Years Ended December 31,

(in millions of dollars)

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Revenues and Other Transfers:
Program Revenues:
Licenses, Permits, Fines and
Charges for Services .........cccccevvcveeenne $ 900.3 $ 879.7 $ 2,527.8 $ 2,502.1 $ 34281 $ 3,381.8
Operating Grants and Contributions ........ 473.2 516.7 - - 473.2 516.7
Capital Grants and Contributions ............. 205.5 221.5 120.0 115.1 325.5 336.6
General Revenues:
Property Taxes .......ccccvvveeiiiiieiiiiiiiiiiinns 1,327.2 1,264.5 - - 1,327.2 1,264.5
Other TAXES ..vvvevvvvieeeeiiiieeeeeeeeesniieee e 2,958.8 2,830.7 - - 2,958.8 2,830.7
Grants and Contributions not
Restricted to Specific Programs .......... 762.0 782.0 - - 762.0 782.0
Other ...oooeiii 308.4 244.3 83.6 48.5 392.0 292.8
Total Revenues ........ccccocceeeeeviivee e, 6,935.4 6,739.4 2,731.4 2,665.7 9,666.8 9,405.1
Expenses:
General GoOvernMeENt .......ccooeevvevieeeeiivnneees 2,914.7 4,549.2 - - 2,914.7 4,549.2
Public Safety ....ccccevviieeeieeee e, 3,636.1 4,266.1 - - 3,636.1 4,266.1
Streets and Sanitation ... 247.8 257.0 - - 247.8 257.0
Transportation ...........cccevecveeeerriieeeeineeeeeenns 414.0 378.8 - - 414.0 378.8
Health .....ooviieeee e 124.1 116.7 - - 124.1 116.7
Cultural and Recreational 121.5 114.7 - - 121.5 114.7
722.0 495.8 - - 722.0 495.8
- - 581.6 816.0 581.6 816.0
- - 293.0 350.4 293.0 350.4
Midway International Airport - - 285.0 320.0 285.0 320.0
Chicago-O'Hare International Airport .......... - - 1,256.7 1,330.2 1,256.7 1,330.2
Chicago SKyway .........cccccveviiiriniiicniienineene - - 8.5 8.7 8.5 8.7
Total EXPenses .......cccceecvvvveeviiveneeninnn, 8,180.2 10,178.3 2,424.8 2,825.3 10,605.0 13,003.6
Change in Net Position Before Transfers (1,244.8) (3,438.9) 306.6 (159.6) (938.2) (3,598.5)
Transfers In (Out) .....coccvvveeniiiieeeniiieeeee 2.2 2.5 (2.2) (2.5) - -
Change in Net PoSItion ..........cccccoevvveeeenn. (1,242.6) (3,436.4) 304.4 (162.1) (938.2) (3,598.5)
Net (Deficit) Position, Beginning of Year ......... (27,472.2) (24,035.8) 42.3 204.4 (27,429.9) (23,831.4)
Net (Deficit) Position, End of Year .................. $ (28,714.8) $ (27,472.2) $ 346.7 $ 42.3 $ (28,368.1) $(27,429.9)
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Expenses and Program Revenues - Governmental Activities
(in millions of dollars)
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Business-type Activities. Total Revenues of the City’s business-type activities increased by $65.7 million in 2017
mostly from an increase in charges for services, rental income, and other general revenues.

The Water Fund’s total operating revenues decreased by $2.4 million (0.3%) from 2016 primarily due to a
decrease in net water fees of $6.2 million resulting from the continued conversion from non-metered to metered
accounts, offset by an increase in penalties and other revenues related to water fees of $3.8 million. Operating
expenses before depreciation and amortization for the year ended 2017 decreased by $136.2 million (25.3%)
from the year ended 2016 primarily due to a decrease in pension expense of $132.9 million as a result of the
changes under P.A. 100-0023 which requires increased future contributions to Municipal Employees’ and
Laborers’. The increase in future required contributions increased the discount rate used to determine the total
pension liability and decreased the current year pension expense.

The Sewer Fund's total operating revenues decreased in 2017 by $11.3 million (3.1%) primarily due to the
conversion of non-metered customers to metered customers. There was a rate increase of 1.83% effective June
1, 2017. Operating expenses before depreciation and amortization for 2017 decreased $64.4 million (28.3%)
from 2016 primarily due to a decrease in pension expense of $70.5 million as a result of the changes under P.A.
100-0023 which requires increased future contributions to Municipal Employees’ and Laborers’. The increase in
future required contributions increased the discount rate used to determine the total pension liability and
decreased the current year expense.

Chicago Midway International Airport’s total operating revenues for 2017 increased by $12.8 million (7.0%) from
2016 primarily due to increases in the landing fees and terminal rental rates to pay for capital development of the
airport, increases in concession revenues due to a new concessions management contract that the Airport
entered into in May 2017 with Midway Partnership LLC, and parking revenues due to a new rate structure
implemented in January 2017. Operating expenses before depreciation and amortization decreased by $11.6
million (6.4%) compared to 2016 primarily due to a decrease in pension expense as a result of the changes under
P.A. 100-0023 which requires increased future contributions to Municipal Employees’ and Laborers’. The increase
in future required contributions increased the discount rate used to determine the total pension liability and
decreased the current year pension expense. This was offset by an increase in professional and engineering
services for pre-construction (planning) related services associated with the Midway Modernization Program.

Chicago O’Hare International Airport’s total operating revenues for 2017 increased by $28.3 million (3.0%)
compared to 2016 primarily due to increases in concession revenues, parking revenues due to a new rate
structure implemented in January 2017, and rents. Operating expenses before depreciation, amortization and
loss on capital asset disposals decreased by $98.7 million (13.1%) compared to 2016 primarily due to a decrease
in pension expense as a result of the changes under P.A. 100-0023 which requires increased future contributions
to Municipal Employees’ and Laborers’. The increase in future required contributions increased the discount rate
used to determine the total pension liability and decreased the current year pension expense. This was offset by
an increase in professional and engineering services primarily due to the O’Hare Use and Lease Agreement
related Terminal Area Plan development negotiations.

The Chicago Skyway was leased for 99 years to a private company. The agreement granted the company the
right to operate the Skyway and to collect toll revenue during the term of the agreement. The City received an
upfront payment of $1.83 billion of which $446.3 million was used to advance refund all of the outstanding
Skyway bonds. The upfront payment is being amortized into nonoperating revenue over the period of the lease
($18.5 million annually).
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Expenses and Program Revenues - Business-type Activities
(in millions of dollars)
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Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds
As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements.

Governmental funds. The focus of the City’'s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows,
outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City's financing
requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government's net
resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.

At December 31, 2017, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $1,622.0 million,
an increase of $713.7 million in comparison with the prior year. Of this total amount, $790.5 million was committed to
specific expenditures, $106.9 million was assigned to anticipated uses, a deficit of $1,973.9 million was unassigned,
$1,903.5 million was restricted in use by legislation, and $795.0 million was nonspendable.

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At the end of the current fiscal year, the unassigned fund
balance of the General Fund was $155.5 million with a total fund balance of $288.4 million. As a measure of the
General Fund’s liquidity, it may be helpful to compare both unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to total
fund expenditures. Total General Fund balance represents 8.3% of total General Fund expenditures. The fund
balance of the City’'s General Fund increased by approximately $18.8 million during the current fiscal year due to
higher revenues and lower expenses for certain categories.

The Federal, State and Local Grants Fund has a total deficit fund balance of $241.4 million. The deficit is $1.5 million
lower than 2016 primarily due to more timely reimbursement of expenditures.

The Special Taxing Areas Fund has a total fund balance of $1,347.3 million, which is all restricted to specific
expenditures.

The Service Concession and Reserve Fund accounts for deferred inflows from nonbusiness type long-term
concession and lease transactions and has $668.3 million committed to specific expenditures. The unassigned deficit
of $1,513.2 million results from the deferred inflows from long-term asset leases.

The Bond, Note Redemption and Interest Fund has a total fund deficit of $329.0 million. This is $596.8 million lower
than 2016, primarily due to the refunding of certain outstanding City bonds.

The STSC Debt Service Fund has a total fund balance of $795.1 million, of which $769.1 million is nonspendable and
$26.0 million is restricted. The fund balance will be used for future debt service payments for certain outstanding
bonds.

The Community Development and Improvement Projects Fund has a total fund balance of $346.0 million. This is
$301.0 million higher than 2016 primarily due to an increase in bond proceeds.

Changes in fund balance. The fund balance for the City’s governmental funds increased by $713.7 million in 2017.
This includes an increase in inventory of $2.2 million.

Proprietary funds. The City’'s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide
financial statements, but in more detail.

Unrestricted net position of the Water, Sewer, Chicago Skyway, Chicago-O’Hare International Airport, and Chicago
Midway International Airport Funds at the end of the year amounted to a deficit of $4,387.3 million. The unrestricted
net position deficit increased by $176.6 million primarily due to an increase in the accrued liabilities in the Water Fund
for IEPA loan activity. Other factors concerning the finances of these five funds have already been addressed in the
discussion of the City's business-type activities.
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

The City’'s 2017 Original General Fund Budget of $3,780.2 million was approved by City Council on November 16,
2016. The Final General Fund Budget of $3,796.6 million was approved by City Council on February 22, 2017. The
Final Budget included an additional $16.4 million of prior year available resources, which represented unexpended
funds from an earlier property tax rebate program which was authorized as part of the 2016 Budget. General Fund
revenues ended the year $56.9 million under the 2017 Final General Fund Budget primarily as a result of not using
$53 million of budgeted prior reappropriations authorized by a series of amendments to the 2017 Original General
Fund Budget. Expenditures were $96.1 million less than budgeted amounts as a result of favorable variances in
general government expenditures. Additional information on the City’'s budget can be found in Note 3 under
Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability within this report.

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital Assets. The City’'s capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of December 31, 2017
amount to $25,183.1 million (net of accumulated depreciation). These capital assets include land, buildings and
system improvements, machinery and equipment, roads, highways and bridges, and property, plant and equipment.

Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following:

e During 2017, the City completed $412.0 million in infrastructure projects including $202.3 million in street
construction and resurfacing projects, $126.4 million in street lighting and transit projects, and $83.3 million in
bridge and viaduct reconstruction. At year end, infrastructure projects still in process had expenses totaling
nearly $665.8 million.

e Atthe end of 2017, the Water Fund had $4,467.3 million invested in utility plant, net of accumulated depreciation.
During 2017, the Water Fund expended $425.8 million on capital activities. This included $5.1 million for
structures and improvements, $124.1 million for distribution plant, $11.4 million for equipment, and $285.1 million
for construction in progress. During 2017, net completed projects totaling $219.6 million were transferred from
construction in progress to applicable capital accounts. The major completed projects were installation and
replacement of water mains ($124.5 million), meter save program ($24.9 million), and conversion of the
Springfield pumping station from steam to electric power ($67.4 million).

e At the end of 2017,the Sewer Fund had $2,576.1 million invested in utility plant, net of accumulated
depreciation. During 2017, the Sewer Fund had capital additions being depreciated of $144.3 million, and
completed projects totaling $9.1 million were transferred from construction in progress to applicable facilities and
structures capital accounts. The 2017 Sewer Main Replacement Program completed 22.3 miles of sewer mains
and 40.7 miles of relining of existing sewer mains.

e At the end of 2017, Chicago-Midway International Airport had $1,167.1 million invested in net capital assets.
During 2017, the Airport had additions of $35.9 million related to capital activities. This included $0.8 million for
land acquisition and the balance of $35.1 million for construction projects relating to runway rehabilitation and
parking and security improvements. During 2017, completed projects totaling $14.2 million were transferred from
construction in progress to applicable buildings and other facilities capital accounts. These major completed
projects were related to runway and taxi improvements, roads, and sidewalks.

e At the end of 2017, Chicago-O’Hare International Airport had $8.0 billion invested in net capital assets. During
2017, the Airport had additions of $889.2 million related to capital activities. This included $0.2 million for land
acquisition and the balance of $889.0 million for construction in progress related to new runway construction
projects (Runway 9C-27C) and associated taxiways, central deicing pad and construction of the Consolidated
Rental Car Facility and Automated Transit System extension. During 2017, completed projects totaling
$189.4 million were transferred from construction in progress to applicable buildings and other facilities capital
accounts. These major completed projects were related to runway and taxi improvements, electrical system
upgrades, parking facilities heating and refrigeration system enhancements, and security and terminal
improvements.
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

City of Chicago, Illinois
Capital Assets (net of depreciation)
(in millions of dollars)

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Land ....oovoeeeeiene e $ 1398 $1397.3 $ 10287 $ 10278 $ 24285 $ 24251
Works of Art and

Historical Collections ..........cc.ccccoevn..n. 47.0 46.0 - - 47.0 46.0
Construction in Progress ..........cccceve.. 694.0 741.0 1,873.7 1,045.0 2,567.7 1,786.0
Buildings and Other Improvements ..... 1,534.6 1,585.4 13,174.9 13,028.0 14,709.5 14,613.4
Machinery and Equipment .................. 285.0 239.7 360.2 296.8 645.2 536.5
INTraStruCture .........cccvvviiiiiiinnciiiien, 4,785.2 4,666.8 - - 4,785.2 4,666.8
TOtAl o $ 87456 $ 86762 $16,437.5 $15397.6 $25183.1 $24,073.8

Information on the City’s capital assets can be found in Note 7 Capital Assets in this report.

Debt. At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had $9,349.4 million in General Obligation Bonds and $337.2
million in General Obligation Certificates and Other Obligations outstanding. Other outstanding long-term debt is as
follows: $743.7 million in Sales Tax Securitization Corporation Bonds (STSC Bonds); $254.2 million in Motor Fuel Tax
Revenue Bonds; $27.9 million in Tax Increment Financing Bonds; and $14,664.1 million in Enterprise Fund Bonds
and long-term obligations. For more detail, refer to Note 9 Long-term Obligations in the Basic Financial Statements.

General Obligation and Revenue Bonds

(in millions of dollars)

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
General Obligation ....... $ 9,686.6 $ 9,173.0 $ - $ - $ 9,686.6 $ 9,173.0
Tax Increment ............. 27.9 335 - - 27.9 335
Revenue Bonds ........... 254.2 766.6 14,664.1 13,203.3 14,918.3 13,969.9
STSC Bonds ................ 743.7 - - - 743.7 -
Total .ooveeeveeeeeeee $ 10,712.4 $ 9,973.1 $ 14,664.1 $ 13,203.3 $ 25,376.5 $ 23,176.4

During 2017, the City and the STSC issued the following:

General Obligation Bonds:

e General Obligation Bonds, Project and Refunding Series 2017A and Taxable Project Series 2017B ($1,160.3

million).

Enterprise Fund Revenue Bonds and Notes:

e Chicago — O’Hare International Airport General Commercial Paper Notes ($102.2 million).
e Chicago — O’Hare International General Airport Senior Lien Revenue Bonds, Series 2016D (Non-AMT), Series
2016E (Non-AMT), Series 2016F (Non- AMT) and Series 2016G (AMT) ($1,117.2 million).
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e Chicago — O’'Hare International General Airport Senior Lien Revenue and Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series
2017A (Non-AMT), Series 2017B (Non-AMT), Series 2017C (Non-AMT) and Series 2017D (AMT) ($812.5
million).

e Second Lien Water Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 ($199.4 million) and 2017-2 ($235.3 million).

e Second Lien Wastewater Revenue and Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 A&B ($396.1 million).

Sales Tax Securitization Corporation Bonds:
e Sales Tax Securitization Bonds Refunding Series 2017A and Taxable Series 2017B & C ($743.7 million).
At December 31, 2017 the City had credit ratings with each of the four major rating agencies as follows:

Standard &
Rating Agency Moody's Poors Fitch Kroll

General Obligation:
City Bal BBB+ BBB- BBB+

Revenue Bonds:

O'Hare Airport:

Senior Lien General Airport Revenue Bonds A2 A A A+

Senior Lien Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) A2 A A NR

Customer Facility Charge (CFC) Baal BBB NR NR
Midway Airport:

First Lien A2 A NR NR

Second Lien A3 A A A
Water:

First Lien Baal A+ AA NR

Second Lien Baa2 A AA- AA
Wastewater:

First Lien Baa2 A+ NR NR

Second Lien Baa3 A AA- AA-
Sales Tax Bal AA BBB- AA+
Motor Fuel Tax Bal BB+ BBB- NR

In February 2017, Fitch Ratings (Fitch) downgraded the rating of the Motor Fuel Tax revenue bonds from BBB to
BBB-, with a negative outlook.

In May 2017, Fitch downgraded ratings of the Senior Lien Water revenue bonds from AA+ to AA, with a negative
outlook.

In May 2017, Fitch downgraded ratings of the Second Lien Water revenue bonds from AA to AA-, with a negative
outlook.

In May 2017, Fitch downgraded ratings of the Senior Lien Wastewater Transmission revenue bonds from AA to AA-,
with a negative outlook.

In June 2017, S&P downgraded the rating of the Motor Fuel Tax revenue bonds from BBB- to BB+ with a negative
outlook.

See Subsequent Events in the footnotes for ratings changes in 2018.
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Economic Factors and Next Year's Budgets and Rates

Regional, national, and global economies play a major role in the City’s finances and economic growth. In 2017, the
unemployment rate in the Chicago metropolitan area was 4.9%, marking the lowest rate since the Recession. Across
the Chicagoland area and in Chicago, home prices continued to rise. In Chicago, the median home prices increased
to $285,000, which is a 4.8% increase over the 2016 median sale price. Additionally, the number of homes sold in
Chicago increased by 1.8%. Tourism and business travel to Chicago increased by 2.5% over 2016 levels, reaching
55.2 million visitors in 2017. The Chicago tourism industry supported an estimated 146,500 jobs in 2017, which is a
17.0% increase since 2011.

The City’s 2018 General Fund Budget, totaling $3,852.5 million, was approved by a 47 to 3 vote of City Council on
November 21, 2017. The 2018 budget closed an operating budget deficit of $114.2 million through a combination of
reforms, spending cuts, and revenue growth. The 2018 budget includes a $5 million deposit into the City's operating
liquidity fund, which is part of the City’s practice of adding to its budget stabilization funds.

Requests for Information
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’s finances for all of those with an interest in

the government’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for
additional financial information should be addressed to the City of Chicago Department of Finance.
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Exhibit 1

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
December 31, 2017

(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Primary Government

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
Cash and Cash EQUIVAIENTS ........ccccuveeiiiieeiiiie e $ 851,501 $ 512,065 $ 1,363,566
INVESTMENTS .ot eb e 1,538,985 468,751 2,007,736
Receivables (Net of Allowances):
PrOPErtY TAX uvveeeeieeiiiiiiiiee ettt 1,853,000 - 1,853,000
ACCOUNES .iiiiiiiiie ettt ettt e e e e e s e e aeeas 1,097,912 442,422 1,540,334
INternal BalanCEeS .......ccvuviiiiiiiiiiiiiee e (66,586) 66,586 -
INVENTOMIES ieiiiiiiii ettt e e e e e e nnes 25,945 23,043 48,988
Restricted Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents ..........cccccccciiiiiiiiicni e 73,805 2,056,257 2,130,062
INVESIMENTS oot 598,083 2,471,906 3,069,989
Cash and Investments with Escrow Agent ..........ccccccvvveeeeiinnns 654,911 - 654,911
Interest Receivable ..., - 15,294 15,294
OtNEI ASSELS ettt a e 11,824 56,060 67,884
Capital Assets:
Land, Art, and Construction in Progress .........ccccceveveeeeninns 2,140,851 2,902,437 5,043,288
Other Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation ....... 6,604,739 13,535,085 20,139,824
Total Capital ASSELS ......ccoviiiiiiiieie e 8.745.590 16.437.522 25.183.112
TOAl ASSELS weeeiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 15,384,970 22,549,906 37,934,876
Deferred OULTIOWS ....cooeeeeeeeee ettt e e 4,089,870 1,194,900 5,284,770
Total Assets and Deferred OUtflows .........cccoveeevcvieciiiiiecens $ 19,474,840 $ 23,744806 $ 43,219,646
LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS
Voucher Warrants Payable ............ccccocoeiiiiiiiieciiiec e $ 884,321 $ 521,701 $ 1,406,022
ACCIUBH INEEIESTE ..ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeees 289,714 314,782 604,496
Accrued and Other LiabilitiesS .......oovveeeeeiiieeeee e 1,091,201 403,360 1,494,561
UNEAINEA REVENUE . .coeeeeeeeee et e e e 99,240 257,370 356,610
Derivative Instrument Liability ..........cccccceeiiiiiiiiiiie e - 24,319 24,319
Long-term Liabilities:
Due Within ONE YEAI ....oeeeeeeeeee e 256,608 481,816 738,424
Due in More Than ONE YEAI ....cuueeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e eeenns 37,154,875 18,289,500 55,444,375
Total LiabilitieS .......ccoiiiiiiiii e 39,775,959 20,292,848 60,068,807
Deferred INFIOWS ....coiiiiiiiiiiie e 8,413,728 3,105,202 11,518,930
Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows ........cccoeeeivviiiiiiiininnnns 48,189,687 23,398,050 71,587,737
NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital ASSELS ......cccccvveeeiiiiiiiiee e (551,074) 3,866,056 3,314,982
Restricted for:
Capital Pr_ojects ......................................................................... 444,911 201,929 646,840
Debt _Serwcg .............................................................................. 623,866 28,165 652,031
Special Taxing AFCAS ......uvvviieeeiiiiiiiiiieee e isiiree e e e e e s sirrrereeeaaaae 1,347,294 - 1,347,294
Passenger Facility Charges ........ccccccoviiiiiieee e - 196,869 196,869
Contractual Use AgreEment ........cccceeeviiiviieeeeeesiiieeeeee e esnineeens - 185,874 185,874
Airport Development FUNd ..........cccoviiee i - 169,999 169,999
Customer Facility Charges ........ccccceeviiiiiiiiee e - 57,060 57,060
Other PUIPOSES ...uvviiiiiieeiiiiiiiiee e e e ettt e e e e siiiaee s e e e e sanranee e e e - 28,125 28,125
Unrestricted (DefiCit) ........cocoiiiiiiiiiie e, (30,579,844) (4,387,321) (34,967,165)
Total Net (Deficit)/POSItion .......ccooeveeiiiiiiiie, $ (28.714.847) $ 346756 $_(28,368,091)

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Exhibit 2

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Functions/Programs

Expenses

Licenses, Permits,
Fines and
Charges for Services

Primary Government
Governmental Activities:

General Government ........................
Public Safety .......cccccceeeiiiiiiiiieee,
Streets and Sanitation .....................
Transportation ..........cccccvveeeeeeeennnnns
Health ...,
Cultural and Recreational .................
Interest on Long-term Debt ..............
Total Governmental Activities ............

Business-type Activities:

Water oo
SEWEL e

Chicago Midway International Airport
Chicago-O'Hare International Airport

Chicago Skyway ........cccccevieeeieinnnnne
Total Business-type Activities ............

Total Primary Government ....................

See notes to basic financial statements.
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$ 2914655 % 521,232
3,636,102 194,586
247,836 95,180
414,044 66,994
124,090 6,881
121,483 15,407
722,008 -
8,180,218 900,280
581,642 759,014
293,047 357,623
284,974 244,073
1,256,665 1,167,089
8,506 -
2,424,834 2,527,799
$ 10605052  $ 3,428,079




Program Revenues

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

Primary Government

Operating Capital
Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type
Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total
332,688 $ - $ (2,060,735) $ - $ (2,060,735)
40,708 - (3,400,808) - (3,400,808)
- - (152,656) - (152,656)
- 205,505 (141,545) - (141,545)
88,915 - (28,294) - (28,294)
10,903 - (95,173) - (95,173)
- - (722,008) - (722,008)
473,214 205,505 (6,601,219) - (6,601,219)
- - - 177,372 177,372
- 6,419 - 70,995 70,995
- 31,556 - (9,345) (9,345)
- 82,001 - (7,575) (7,575)
- - - (8,506) (8,506)
- 119,976 - 222,941 222,941
473,214 $ 325,481 (6,601,219) 222,941 (6,378,278)
General Revenues
Taxes:
Property TaX ......cccccccccvermimmmnmiiiiieiiieieieeniennee. 1,327,236 - 1,327,236
ULIlILY TAX ceveeeeeiiiieee e 609,205 - 609,205
SAlES TAX coivveieeiiiiie et 344,911 - 344,911
Transportation TaX ........ccccvveeeeeeeiirinnneeeeeennns 476,329 - 476,329
Transaction TaX ......cccccvvveveviieieieeeieceeeeeeeeeee, 497,965 - 497,965
Special Area TaX ..ccveevvvicciiieeeeeeseciieeeeeeen 605,548 - 605,548
Recreation TaX ....ccccccceveveeiieeiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeee, 253,140 - 253,140
Other Taxes ...cccevvviiiiieiiiee e 171,742 - 171,742
Grants and Contributions not Restricted to
Specific Programs ........cccccceeeeeviiciviieeneeeneenns 762,009 - 762,009
Unrestricted Investment Earnings ................... 87,741 53,114 140,855
Loss on Disposal and Sale of Capital Assets .. (28,583) (18,711) (47,294)
MiSCEllaNEOoUS ........ovvvieiiiiiieieieieeeeeve e 249,173 49,287 298,460
Transfers ..o 2,215 (2,215) -
Total General Revenues and Transfers ........ 5,358,631 81,475 5,440,106
Change in Net Position ........cccccceevennes (1,242,588) 304,416 (938,172)
Net Position - BEgINNING .......coveeiiiiiiiiiiieeaeenans (27,472,259) 42,340 (27,429,919)
Net Position - ENdiNg .......cccooveevieiieiieciecieeenes $ (28,714,847) $ 346,756 $ (28,368,091)
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Exhibit 3

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

December 31, 2017

(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Federal, State Special
and Local Taxing
General Grants Areas
ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents ...........ccccceeeiiiiiee i $ 3,500 $ - $ 476,754
INVESTMENIS ... e 170,423 91,884 774,514
Receivables (Net of Allowances):
PrOPEItY TAX  .eveeeeeiiiiiiiiieiiiiiiiiieieieeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeees - - 524,997
Yo o0 11 ] o] £ T RUUPPPPUPT 226,081 4,275 3,759
Due From Other FUNAS  .....ooovviiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 233,028 22,474 88,489
Due From Other GOVEIMMENLS  ......covviiiieiiiiiie st 204,948 393,967 -
LN VZ=T o) (0T =PRSS 25,945 - -
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents ...........ccooccoieeiieiiniiiinnen. - 3,218 -
Restricted INVESIMENTS  ....ooiiiiiiiie e - - -
Restricted Cash and Investments with Escrow Agent ................... - - -
Other ASSEIS  .eiiiiiiiiie et - 3,267 -
TOtAl ASSELS  ..eiiiiiiiiiiie e s $ 863,925 $ 519,085 $ 1,868,513
LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS AND FUND BALANCE
Liabilities:
Voucher Warrants Payable ...........ccccocoevievieniecie e, $ 214,162 $ 160,258 $ 55,640
Bonds, Notes and Other Obligations Payable - Current ......... - - -
Yoo 0 1= To I 1 (=T (=T S - - -
Due To Other FUNAS  .....ooviiiiiei e 185,342 253,145 1,581
Accrued and Other LiabilitiesS .........cccccovviuvminininiiiiiiinieininininnn, 139,158 6,099 4,408
Claims Payable .......c..oovvviiiiieee e 33,529 - -
Unearned REVENUE .......cooviiiiiiiiiiie ettt 1,405 97,835 -
Total Liabilities  ...c..eeiiiieee e 573,596 517,337 61,629
Deferred INflOWS ..., 1,968 243,150 459,590
Fund Balance:
Nonspendable ..o 25,945 - -
=TS (o3 (=T o P - 7,438 1,347,294
COMMILEEA ..o - - -
ASSIGNEA .o 106,900 - -
LU F= TS o [ =T o SRS 155,516 (248,840) -
Total Fund Balance ... 288,361 (241,402) 1,347,294
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows and Fund Balance .......... $ 863,925 $ 519,085 $ 1,868,513

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Service Community

Concession Bond, Note STSC Development Nonmajor Total
and Redemption Debt and Improvement Governmental Governmental
Reserve and Interest Service Projects Pension Funds Funds
$ - $ 36,520 $ 325 % 115556 $ 193,139 $ 25,707 $ 851,501
- 89,283 - 322,283 - 90,598 1,538,985
- 498,833 - - 806,220 22,950 1,853,000
5,182 12,564 26,034 2,263 496 178,752 459,406
30,940 412 769,064 19,453 - 100,608 1,264,468
- 2,960 - - - 36,631 638,506
- - - - - - 25,945
34,089 - - - - 36,498 73,805
598,083 - - - - - 598,083
- 591,587 - - - 63,324 654,911
- - - - - - 3,267
$ 668294 $ 1,232,159 $ 795,423 $ 459,555 $ 999,855 $ 555,068 $ 7,961,877
$ 7% - $ 356 $ 52,300 $ 194,159 $ 199,882 $ 876,764
- 81,297 - - - - 81,297
- 288,919 - - - 795 289,714
- 769,064 - 59,501 123,896 62,421 1,454,950
- - - 1,754 - 6,930 158,349
- - - - - - 33,529
- - - - - - 99,240
7 1,139,280 356 113,555 318,055 270,028 2,993,843
1,513,194 421,872 - - 681,800 24,502 3,346,076
- - 769,064 - - - 795,009
- - 26,003 346,000 - 176,759 1,903,494
668,287 - - - - 122,202 790,489
- - - - - - 106,900
(1,513,194) (328,993) - - - (38,423) (1,973,934)
(844,907) (328,993) 795,067 346,000 - 260,538 1,621,958
$ 668294 $ 1,232,159 $ 795,423 $ 459555 $ 999,855 $ 555,068 $ 7,961,877
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore are not reported in the funds ................ 8,745,590
Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period
expenditures and therefore are recorded as deferred inflows in the FUNAS ..o 1,832,882
Bond issuance costs that are expensed in statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances
but reported as other assets in the Statement Of ACHVIIES ........c.cvrieuriiririrre e 8,557
Certain liabilities, including bonds payable, and deferred outflows are not due and payable
in the current period and therefore are not reported in the fUNAS ... e (40,923,834)

Net position 0f GOVEIMMENTAI ACHIVIIES .......cveerrceriierciess ettt s e s e $ (28,714,847)

35



Exhibit 4
CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Revenues:
Property TaxX ..ccceovviviiiiiiiiiiineeeeeeeevi
ULIIEY TAX e
Sales Tax (Local) .....coovvevvvieeeeeiiiiriiiieee,
Transportation Tax ........occccveeeeeeeeriiiiiienen.
State INCoOMe TaX .ccooevveevveviiiiii e,
State SalesS TaX .vceevveeeeiieiiiieeeeeeeeeereee,
Transaction TAX ........eeeevvvevereeererererererereeene.
Special Area TaX ...occoovviciiieeeieeieiiieeeeenn
Recreation TaX ...ccccccccvvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeee,
Other TaXES .oeeeieiiiieeiieeee e
Federal/State Grants ........ccccccvvvvveviiennnnnnn.
Internal Service .........cccovvieieeiiiiiiiiicee e
Licenses and PermitS ........cccccevvvvvvvvvvvevnnnnns
FINES e,
Investment Income ........ccooiiiieiin e,
Charges for Services .......ccccccceeviiiiiiieenannnn.
Miscellaneous .......ccccccvvvvvviiiiiiiiiiieieeee

Total REVENUES  .....oevvveeeieeieiieeiiieee e

Expenditures:
Current:
General Government ........ccccccovveeeeiiieeeennns
Health ...
Public Safety .....cccoceeveei i,
Streets and Sanitation ...............................
Transportation ..........ccccccvveeeiiiiiiiiennee e
Cultural and Recreational ..................coc.
Employee Pensions ........cccccccvvvvvieeneeennnnnns
Other
Capital Outlay  ......cevveeeiiiiiieiee e
Debt Service:
Principal Retirement ............ccovviivveeenninns
Interest and Other Fiscal Charges .............

Total Expenditures .........ccccveeeeeeeniinnns

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

Continued on following pages.

Federal,

State and Special

Local Taxing

General Grants Areas
438,979 - -
229,861 - -
274,999 - -
388,236 - -
270,499 - -
434,218 - -

- - 491,310
253,140 - -
146,991 - -

2,514 703,251 -
347,738 - -
133,500 - -
344,925 - -

6,978 - 20,344
189,802 - 24

97,079 - 1,626
3,559,459 703,251 513,304
929,471 346,562 375,399
30,083 93,052 -
2,228,705 54,656 426
197,491 - -
50,069 163,270 60,633

- 15,659 -

- 350 -

- 48,174 -

6,145 - 3,118

12,894 - -
3,454,858 721,723 439,576
104,601 (18,472) 73,728
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Community
Development

Service Bond, Note STSC and Nonmajor Total
Concession Redemption Debt Improvement Governmental Governmental
and Reserve  and Interest Service Projects Pension Funds Funds
$ - $ 472547 B - $ - $ 740,019 % - $ 1,212,566

- 22,327 - - - 143,103 604,409

- 38,816 11,221 - - 65,013 344,911

- 13,245 - - - 188,085 476,329

- - - - - - 388,236

- - 14,713 - - 86,047 371,259

- - - - - 63,747 497,965

- - - - - 21,219 512,529

- - - - - - 253,140

- - - - - 24,751 171,742

- - - - - - 705,765

- - - - - 33,664 381,402

- 2,616 - - - - 136,116

- - - - - 18,929 363,854
49,113 1,990 - 6,083 54 3,178 87,740
- - - - - 51,001 240,827
21,033 12,187 - 12,302 82,129 22,817 249,173
70,146 563,728 25,934 18,385 822,202 721,554 6,997,963
7 - - 1,350 - 340,437 1,993,226

- - - - - - 123,135

- - - 45,143 - 4,743 2,333,673

- - - - - 44,734 242,225

- - - - - 104,850 378,822

- - - - - 87,414 103,073

- - - - 931,618 - 931,618

- - - - - 394 744

- - - 164,627 - 62,591 275,392

- 283,857 - - - 60,825 353,945

- 571,925 6,467 - - 18,308 609,594

7 855,782 6,467 211,120 931,618 724,296 7,345,447
70,139 (292,054) 19,467 (192,735) (109,416) (2,742) (347,484)
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Exhibit 4 - Concluded

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Year Ended December 31, 2017

(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Federal,
State and Special
Local Taxing
General Grants Areas
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Issuance of DEDt  .......ccvvvvviiiverieiie e $ - $ 19,977 $ -
Issuance of Line of Credit ...........ccooeiiiiienneenn. - - -
Premium/(Discount) .......ccccccoevvviiiereeeee i - - -
Payment to Refunded Bond Escrow Agent ..... - - -
Proceeds from Sale of Assets .......cccccovveeeene - - -
Transfers In ..o 180,227 - 12,042
Transfers Out .......oooccvieeiire e (268,263) - (48,295)
Total Other Financing (Uses) Sources ........ (88,036) 19,977 (36,253)
Net Changes in Fund Balance .............cccccceeeeennn. 16,565 1,505 37,475
Fund Balance, Beginning of Year ..........cccccccee... 269,582 (242,907) 1,309,819
Change in INVeNntory ......cccccceeevviciiieeee e 2,214 - -
Fund Balance, End of Year ........cccccooevveeiiineeennns $ 288,361 $ (241,402) $ 1,347,294

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Community
Development

Service Bond, Note STSC and Nonmajor Total
Concession Redemption Debt Improvement Governmental Governmental
and Reserve  and Interest Service Projects Pension Funds Funds
$ - $ 553936 $ 743,735 $ 471,158 $ - $ 135,166 $ 1,923,972

- 77,203 - - - - 77,203

- (11,953) 33,917 (9,803) - - 12,161

- (971,766) - - - - (971,766)

- - - 15,225 - - 15,225

- 125,023 - 17,128 109,416 145,902 589,738
(21,060) (77,203) (2,052) (5) - (170,645) (587,523)
(21,060) (304,760) 775,600 493,703 109,416 110,423 1,059,010
49,079 (596,814) 795,067 300,968 - 107,681 711,526
(893,986) 267,821 - 45,032 - 152,857 908,218
- - - - - - 2,214

$ (844,907) $ (328,993) $ 795,067 $ 346,000 $ - $ 260,538 $ 1,621,958
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Exhibit 5

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Year Ended December 31, 2017

(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different from amounts reported for

governmental funds in the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances because:
Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in

the statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their

estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is the

amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the current

=1 11 Yo SRR

In the Statement of Activities, gain or loss on disposal and sale of capital assets is reported,
whereas in the governmental funds, the entire proceeds are recorded ...........ccocccviieeeeinnnnne
Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial

resources are not reported as revenues inthe funds ........ccccceeeev i
Bond proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds,

but issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net
assets. This is the amount by which proceeds exceeded repayments ..........ccceeevvevereeennnns
Certain expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require

the use of current financial resources and therefore are not reported as

expenditures in governmental funds

711,526

127,759

(43,808)

193,341

(802,641)

(1,428,765)

Change in the net position of governmental activities

............................................................ $

(1,242,588)

See notes to basic financial statements.

41



Exhibit 6

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND (BUDGETARY BASIS)

Year Ended December 31, 2017

(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Original Final Actual
Budget Budget Amounts Variance
Revenues:
ULIILY TAX cvveeeeiiiieeecieee et sieee e $ 437,020 $ 437,020 $ 438979 $ 1,959
SAlES TAX veeeiiiiiiee et 326,040 326,040 229,861 (96,179)
Transportation TaX ........occccveeeeeeeeericinenen. 241,440 241,440 274,999 33,559
Transaction TaX .......cccceeevrveeeennieeeenneneeas 394,940 394,940 434,218 39,278
Recreation TaX ......cccccccvevvciveeeiniiinnesnnnnnns 221,563 221,563 253,140 31,577
Other TaXeS ...ccveevviieeeiiiiiee e 128,320 128,320 146,991 18,671
State INCOME TaX ...covcveeevviiiieiiiiiee s 399,618 399,618 388,236 (11,382)
State Sales TaX ..cccccvvvveeiiriiiieiiiieee i, 372,800 372,800 270,499 (102,301)
Federal/State Grants .........ccccccovviiiieneennn. 1,800 1,800 2,514 714
Internal Service ........ccocvveiviieeiiiieeee 358,885 358,885 347,738 (11,147)
Licenses and Permits ........cccccceeeiiiiinnnenn. 128,000 128,000 133,500 5,500
FINES e 358,800 358,800 344,925 (13,875)
Investment INCOME ...........ueviiviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiens 1,500 1,500 6,978 5,478
Charges for Services ......cccccecevvvviiviennenennn, 197,945 197,945 189,802 (8,143)
Miscellaneous .........ccceeevvveeeeiiiiie e 137,533 137,933 97,079 (40,854)
Budgeted Prior Years' Surplus
and Reappropriations .........ccccccovviiinneen. 37,000 53,000 - (53,000)
Transfers INfOUt ........ccooovvieeiiiiiieciieeee 37,000 37,000 180,227 143,227
Total REVENUES .....ccoovveiivieeeee e 3,780,204 3,796,604 3,739,686 (56,918)
Expenditures:
Current:
General Government ........ccccccoviiiiiieeeeenn. 1,305,128 1,320,528 1,202,087 118,441
Health ... 31,990 31,990 31,633 357
Public Safety ......cccccevviiieiiiiie e, 2,175,078 2,176,078 2,212,796 (36,718)
Streets and Sanitation ...........cccoccceeeiiineenn, 207,026 207,026 197,744 9,282
Transportation ..........occccveeeeeeeiiiniiiiieeeeenn. 56,100 56,100 50,982 5,118
Debt Service:
Principal Retirement ..........ccccccoiiiiiinennenn. 2,145 2,145 2,145 -
Interest and Other Fiscal Charges ............ 2,737 2,737 3,080 (343)
Total EXpenditures .........ccoeccvvveveeeeeiiinnns 3,780,204 3,796,604 3,700,467 96,137
Revenues Over Expenditures ................ $ - $ - $ 39,219 $ 39,219

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Exhibit 7
CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

PENSION FUND (BUDGETARY BASIS)
Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Revenues:
Property Taxes .....ccccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiee,
Investment Income ..........ccooeveviiinieveen e,
Other REVENUE  ....vecvieeiiiiieiieee e,
Transfers IN ...,

Total REVENUES ......eoiiiviiiieeeeeiieeeeee e

Expenditures:
Current:
City Contribution to -
Municipal Employees'
Annuity and Benefit Fund ............ccccveeeen.
City Contribution to -
Laborers' and Retirement Board
Employees' Annuity and Benefit Fund ......
City Contribution to -
Policemen's Annuity and Benefit Fund .....
City Contribution to -
Firemen's Annuity and Benefit Fund .........

Total Expenditures ...........coccceveeeiiniiiiinennenn.

Revenues Over Expenditures ...................

See notes to basic financial statements.

Original Final Actual
Budget Budget Amounts Variance
839,083 $ 839,083 $ 740,019 $ (99,064)
- - 54 54
82,300 82,300 82,129 (171)
108,605 108,605 109,416 811
1,029,988 1,029,988 931,618 (98,370)
266,988 266,988 256,127 10,861
36,000 36,000 35,142 858
500,000 500,000 439,805 60,195
227,000 227,000 200,544 26,456
1,029,988 1,029,988 931,618 98,370
- $ - $ - $ -
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Exhibit 8

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

December 31, 2017
(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Major Funds

Chicago- Chicago-
Midway O'Hare
International  International Chicago
Water Sewer Airport Airport Skyway Total

ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and Cash Equivalents .........c.cccocvvereunne, $ 192899 $ 55,338 $ 46,037 $ 217,206 $ 585 § 512,065
INVESIMENTS ..o 330,238 102,703 5,009 30,026 775 468,751
Accounts Receivable (Net of

AlOWANCES) ..vvvvviriirireiniseieisieissieseessse s 189,169 105,155 19,369 83,660 11 397,364
Interest ReCEIVabIE .........cocvrerieininenieeien, 285 - 97 430 812
Due from Other FUNdS .......cccovvvvierenierieisserens 36,670 22,238 1,583 39,257 99,748
INVENLOMIES .o s 22,068 975 - - 23,043
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Restricted .............. 68,025 107,660 85,740 785,667 1,047,092
Investments - RESTICIEd ........coovveririerieieinnn, 120,846 108,324 - 229,170
Interest Receivable - Restricted ..o, 527 1,638 - 2,165
Other Assets - Restricted ..........covevvreriireennns - 2,028 2,028
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 960,727 504,031 157,835 1,158,274 1,371 2,782,238
NONCURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Restricted .............. - 128,616 880,549 1,009,165
Investments - RESTICtEd ........oovvverinierieieinn, 200,538 442,809 1,599,389 2,242,736
Interest Receivable - Restricted ..o - 2,033 11,096 13,129
Other Assets - Restrcted ..........covvivreniireenens 3,068 31,445 34,513
Due from Other Governments - Restricted ........... - - 29,707 14,539 - 44,246
Other ASSELS ....ccvvevreeiereeesce e, 2,962 1,299 612 5,030 9,616 19,519
Property, Plant, and Equipment:
LANG oot s 6,858 560 116,475 892,248 12,609 1,028,750
Structures, Equipment and

IMPrOVEMENLS ... 5,184,483 3,102,022 1,685,956 9,432,232 490,817 19,895,510
Accumulated Depreciation .........ccoevvrerrvereennenen, (1,145,919) (614,866) (667,724) (3,672,833)  (259,083) (6,360,425)
Construction Work in Progress .........ccocveeenennn. 421,867 88,343 32,427 1,331,050 1,873,687

Total Property, Plant and Equipment ........... 4,467,289 2,576,059 1,167,134 7,982,697 244,343 16,437,522

TOTAL NONCURRENT ASSETS: .....ccovvvvrrireinen. 4,470,251 2,777,896 1,773,979 10,524,745 253,959 19,800,830
TOTAL ASSETS ..cooviveieieinnieiseissenssessesssinsenns 5,430,978 3,281,927 1,931,814 11,683,019 255,330 22,583,068
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS .....c.vvieiiireecireeieins 365,315 108,421 154,462 566,702 1,194,900
TOTAL ASSETS AND
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS .....covvvivieireeieireeieins $ 5,796,293 $ 3,390,348 $ 2,086,276 $ 12,249,721

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Exhibit 8

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS - Concluded

December 31, 2017
(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Major Funds
Chicago- Chicago-
Midway O'Hare
International  International Chicago
Water Sewer Airport Airport Skyway Total
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Voucher Warrants Payable ........c..cccoccvvennne $ 29219 $ 3728 $ 23867 $ 73,793 % - % 130,607
Due to Other FUNAS ..o, 12,482 8,904 9,537 2,224 15 33,162
Accrued and Other Liabilities ..........ccccoceeee. 260,725 38,597 2,743 8,984 - 311,049
Unearmned REVENUE ......coocvvevveeveenniinienniens 17,128 13,671 3,874 222,697 - 257,370
Current Liabilities Payable from
Restricted ASSEtS ..o 189,397 215,984 85,387 785,667 1,276,435
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES ........... 508,951 280,884 125,408 1,093,365 15 2,008,623
NONCURRENT LIABILITIES:
Revenue Bonds and
Commercial Paper Payable ........cccccocovvnrnne. 2,525,481 1,982,359 1,842,175 8,783,253 15,133,268
Line of Credit and TIFIA Loan Payable ........ - - - 171,901 171,901
Net Pension Liability .........ccocoeveveneninnnnn. 1,041,779 392,602 290,610 1,259,340 2,984,331
Derivative Instrument Liability - - 24,319 - 24,319
Other .o, 1,577 - 1,991 3,568
TOTAL NONCURRENT LIABILITIES ... 3,568,837 2,374,961 2,159,095 10,214,494 18,317,387
TOTAL LIABILITIES oo 4,077,788 2,655,845 2,284,503 11,307,859 15 20,326,010
DEFERRED INFLOWS ..o, 634,009 246,802 108,774 525,920 1,589,697 3,105,202
NET POSITION:
Net Investment
in Capital ASSELS .o, 1,949,409 735,564 (180,803) 1,117,543 244,343 3,866,056
Restricted Net Position:
Debt SEIVICE ... - - 8,750 19,415 28,165
Capital Projects .....coovevrierveniieienienenns 527 116,376 41,292 43,734 201,929
Passenger Facility Charges ...........ccvuvee.. - - 4,035 192,834 196,869
Contractual Use Agreement ............cc..... - - 34,541 151,333 185,874
Air Development Fund ........cccoeevvnrceeinnnns - - - 169,999 169,999
Customer Facility Charge ......cccccocevveneene. - - 31,573 25,487 57,060
Other oo - - 7,285 20,840 28,125
Unrestricted Net (DEfiCit) ..oovovrvreereirinrnns (865,440) (364,239) (253,674) (1,325,243)  (1,578,725) (4,387,321)
TOTAL NET POSITION/(DEFICIT) ....... $ 1,084,496 $ 487,701 $ (307,001) $ 415942 $ (1,334,382) $ 346,756

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Exhibit 9
CITY OF CHICAGO,

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

ILLINOIS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Year Ended December 31, 2017

(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Operating Revenues:
Charges for Services -

Net of Provision for

Doubtful Accounts of $20,203 for Water

and $20,813 for Sewer

Rent

Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses:
Personnel Services ..
Contractual Services

Repairs and Maintenance
Commodities and Materials
Depreciation and Amortization
Loss on Capital Asset Disposals
General Fund Reimbursements

Pension Expense ...
Other

Total Operating Expenses

Operating Income (Loss)

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):

Investment Income (Loss)

Interest Expense ......

Passenger Facility Charges
Customer Facility Charges

Noise Mitigation Costs
Cost of Issuance ......
Other

Total Nonoperating Revenues

(Expenses) ...

Transfers Out
Capital Grants

Net Income (Loss)

Net Position (Deficit) -

Beginning of Year ...

Net Position (Deficit) - End of Year

See notes to basic financ

ial statements.

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Major Funds

46

Chicago- Chicago-
Midway O'Hare
International  International Chicago

Water Sewer Airport Airport Skyway Total
$ 729644 $ 356473 $ 95416 $ 650,974 $ 1,832,507
- 99,609 325,205 424,814
29,370 1,150 - 30,520
759,014 357,623 195,025 976,179 2,287,841
122,954 12,591 48,185 205,957 389,687
55,844 2,466 24,344 101,798 - 184,452
1,300 66,541 44,506 95,310 - 207,657
22,603 - - - - 22,603
71,088 48,171 51,443 262,331 8,506 441,539
- - - 18,711 - 18,711
84,737 47,522 - - 132,259
107,095 34,397 40,211 145,992 327,695
7,694 13,719 103,437 124,850
473,315 211,688 222,408 933,536 8,506 1,849,453
285,699 145,935 (27,383) 42,643 (8,506) 438,388
10,248 4,348 5,722 32,771 25 53,114
(108,327) (81,359) (61,277) (313,202) - (564,165)
- 40,918 151,816 192,734
8,130 39,094 - 47,224
(1,289) (16,445) (17,734)
- - - (12,193) (12,193)
3,245 6 475 26,860 18,701 49,287
(94,834) (77,005) (7,321) (91,299) 18,726 (251,733)
(2,095) (120) - (2,215)
- 6,419 31,556 82,001 - 119,976
188,770 75,229 (3,148) 33,345 10,220 304,416
895,726 412,472 (303,853) 382,597 (1,344,602) 42,340
$ 1,084,496 $ 487,701 ¢ (307,001) $ 415942 $ (1,334,382) $ 346,756




Exhibit 10

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Year Ended December 31, 2017

(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Received from Customers
Payments to Vendors
Payments to Employees
Transactions with Other City Funds

Cash Flows Provided By
Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Capital and Related
Financing Activities:

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Major Funds

Proceeds from Issuance of Bonds/Commercial

Paper/IEPA Loans/TIFIA Loans/LOC
Acquisition and Construction of

Capital Assets

Capital Grant Receipts
Bond Issuance Costs

Payment to Refund Bonds

Principal Paid on Debt
Interest Paid

Passenger and Customer Facility Charges

Concessionaire Funds

Cash Flows (Used in) Provided By Capital
and Related Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Non Capital Financing Activities:

Noise Mitigation Program
Proceeds from Settlement Agreement

Cash Flows Used in Non Capital
Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
(Purchases) Sale of Investments, Net
Investment Income (Loss)

Cash Flows (Used in) Provided By
Investing Activities

Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and
Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year

See notes to basic financial statements.

Chicago- Chicago-
Midway O'Hare
International International Chicago

Water Sewer Airport Airport Skyway Total
$ 737146 $ 358600 $ 197,343 1,003,818 $ 2,296,907
(74,661) (29,299) (83,615) (307,547) (236) (495,358)
(122,989) (51,950) (44,479) (187,117) - (406,535)
(106,537) (63,423) (12,714) (85,131) (267,805)
432,959 213,928 56,535 424,023 (236) 1,127,209
655,495 506,380 2,404,756 3,566,631
(392,151) (165,650) (39,634) (818,606) (1,416,041)
- 6,419 3,147 101,937 111,503
(4,146) (5,394) (4,061) (17,839) (31,440)
- (240,400) - (615,843) (856,243)
(578,857) (51,653) (25,770) (277,850) (934,130)
(132,476) (87,983) (82,336) (348,042) (650,837)
- - 50,513 190,961 - 241,474
79 79
(452,135) (38,281) (98,141) 619,474 79 30,996
(1,289) (16,445) (17,734)
475 778 1,253
(814) (15,667) (16,481)
52,621 (174,695) 66,305 (488,302) 222 (543,849)
11,390 5,261 8,470 38,549 42 63,712
64,011 (169,434) 74,775 (449,753) 264 (480,137)
44,835 6,213 32,355 578,077 107 661,587
216,089 156,785 228,038 1,305,345 478 1,906,735
260,924 $ 162,998 $ 260,393 1883422 $ 585 2,568,322
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Exhibit 10 - Concluded

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Major Funds

Chicago- Chicago-
Midway O'Hare
International  International Chicago
Water Sewer Airport Airport Skyway Total
Reconciliation of Operating Income to
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Operating INCOME (LOSS)  ..evvuveureeereeereeeereeesssssesenseeeees $ 285699 $ 145935 $ (27,383) $ 42643 $ (8506) $ 438,388
Adjustments to Reconcile:
Depreciation and Amortization and Impairment ............ 71,088 48,171 51,443 281,042 8,506 460,250
Pension Expense Other than Contribution 82,683 24,921 30,663 107,299 - 245,566
Provision for Uncollectible ACCOUNtS  ........coeeevveviceennne 20,203 20,813 41 - - 41,057
Change in Assets and Liabilities:
(Increase) Decrease in Receivables ...........cc..... (41,041) (19,093) (3,324) (1,812) - (65,270)
(Increase) Decrease in Due From Other Funds (764) (4,766) 443 (7,406) - (12,493)
(Decrease) Increase in Voucher Warrants
Payable and Due to Other FUnds .........ccccocveevncenenne 11,958 (1,127) (737) (19,066) - (8,972)
Increase (Decrease) in Unearned Revenue
and Other Liabilities .........ovverevneveernerneireinerneiceis 2,965 (944) 5,560 29,451 (236) 36,796
Increase in Inventories and
OthEr ASSELS ...oueueereeieeeieeee et 168 18 (171) (8,128) - (8,113)
Cash Flows from
Operating ACHVIIES ......vvvvvreiecneeiesessseneenes $ 432959 $ 213928 $ 56535 $ 424023 $ (236) $ 1,127,209
Supplemental Disclosure of
Noncash Items:
Capital asset additions in 2017
have outstanding accounts payable
and accrued and other liabilities ..., $ 66176 $ 115648 $ 18330 $ 212,735 $ - $ 412,889

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Exhibit 11

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS

December 31, 2017

(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Pension
Trust Agency
ASSETS
Cash and Cash EqQUIVAIENTS  .........cuuiiiiiiiiiiiee e $ 242,857 $ 110,080
INVESTMENTS ..o e e e e e e 8,899,948 109,443
Cash and Investments with
o 01V Yo =] o | PSP - 10,617
Property Tax Receivable ... - 91,101
Accounts Receivable, Net ... 1,086,904 8,511
DU FrOM ClLY  .eeeeiieiieiiiiiie ittt e e et e e e e e e s nb e e e as 123,896 -
Property, Plant, Equipment and other .........cccccccveeviiiiiiieeee e, 198 -
Invested Securities Lending Collateral ... 553,047 -
TOAl ASSELS  .iiiiiei it srae e $ 10,906,850 $ 329,752
Deferred OUFIOWS  ......c.ocueeiieiieceicce ettt $ 274 $ -
LIABILITIES
Voucher Warrants Payable ... $ 284,285 $ 22,214
Accrued and Other LiabilitieS  ......cc.cooviiiiiiiiie e - 307,538
Securities Lending Collateral ..........c.oeeiiiiiiiiii e 553,047 -
Total LIabilitieS  ...ccveeeiee e s $ 837,332 $ 329,752
NET POSITION
Restricted for Pension BenefitS ... 10,069,792
Total Nt POSIION  ...ooceeeeiiie et $ 10,069,792

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Exhibit 12

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN PLAN NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS - PENSION TRUST FUNDS

Year Ended December 31, 2017

(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Total
ADDITIONS
Contributions:
EMPIOYEES ...ooieee e $ 302,551
Gy et ——————— 1,020,156
Total Contributions .......cooviiviiiiieeee e 1,322,707
Investment Income:
Net Appreciation in
Fair Value of Investments .........ccccceevevivneeenee. 1,214,709
Interest, Dividends and Other .........cccceeeeveeeiiiiennnee. 197,009
Investment EXPeNnSse ......ooiiiiiiiiieeiiiiiieeeeee e (43,427)
Net Investment InCome  .......coooevvvviviiiiiiiiinennnn, 1,368,291
Securities Lending Transactions:
Securities Lending INCOME  ....oovvveviiiciiiieeeee e, 7,448
Securities Lending EXPeENse  ......cccccceveeviiiiiiieeneeeenn. (4,363)
Net Securities Lending Transactions .............. 3,085
Other Additions
OPEB Termination ........ccvvvveeiieeiiieeeieeeeeeeeeeevinnn 5,393
Total AdditioNS  .....cooviiiiiiiee e, 2,699,476
DEDUCTIONS
Benefits and Refunds of Deductions .........ccccceeeeveeeeenens 2,099,213
Administrative and General .........coooooieiiiiiiiieiieeeea, 18,473
Total DeductionS .......coevveveeiiieee e 2,117,686
Net Increase in Net Position .........c.ocoevveeeeennnnn. 581,790
Net Position:
Beginning of Year ........ccccccvievveee i 9,488,002
End of YEar ..ooooovviiiiiii, $ 10,069,792

See notes to basic financial statements.
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The City of Chicago (City), incorporated in 1837, is a “home rule” unit under State of lllinois law. The City has a
mayor-council form of government. The Mayor is the Chief Executive Officer of the City and is elected by general
election. The City Council is the legislative body and consists of 50 members, each representing one of the City’s 50
wards. The members of the City Council are elected through popular vote by ward for four-year terms.

The accounting policies of the City are based upon accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). Effective January 1, 2017, the
City adopted the following GASB Statements:

GASB Statement No. 80, Blending Requirements for Certain Component Units, an amendment of GASB
Statement No. 14 (“GASB 80”), amends the blending requirements for the financial statement presentation of
component units of all state and local governments. GASB 80 was effective for the City for its year ended
December 31, 2017. The adoption of this Statement had no impact on the City’s financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 82, Pension Issues, an amendment of GASB Statements No. 67, No. 68, and No. 73
(“GASB 82"), addresses issues regarding (1) the presentation of payroll-related measures in required
supplementary information, (2) the selection of assumptions and the treatment of deviations from the
guidance in an Actuarial Standard of Practice for financial reporting purposes, and (3) the classification of
payments made by employers to satisfy employee (Plan member) contribution requirements. GASB 82 was
effective for the City for its year ended December 31, 2017. The adoption of this Statement adjusted the
presentation of payroll-related measures in the required supplementary information, but did not have an
impact on the City’s financial statements.

Other accounting standards that the City is currently reviewing for applicability and potential impact on the financial
statements include:

GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than
Pensions (“GASB 75"), replaces the requirements of Statements No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting
by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, as amended, and No. 57, OPEB
Measurements by Agent Employers and Agent Multiple-Employer Plans, for OPEB. GASB 75 will be
effective for the City beginning with its year ending December 31, 2018. This Statement establishes
standards for recognizing and measuring liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of
resources, and expense/expenditures. In addition, this Statement details the recognition and disclosure
requirements for employers with payables to defined benefit OPEB plans that are administered through trusts
that meet the specified criteria and for employers whose employees are provided with defined contribution
OPEB.

GASB Statement No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations — (“GASB 83"), addresses accounting and
financial reporting for certain asset retirement obligations (AROs). A government that has legal obligations to
perform future asset retirement activities related to its tangible capital assets will have to recognize a liability
based on the guidance in this statement. This Statement also requires disclosure of information about the
nature of a government’s AROs, the methods and assumptions used for the estimates of the liabilities, and
the estimated remaining useful life of the associated tangible capital assets. GASB 83 will be effective for the
City beginning with its year ending December 31, 2019.

GASB Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities — (“GASB 84”) will improve the guidance regarding the
identification of fiduciary activities for accounting and financial reporting purposes and how those activities
should be reported. GASB 84 will be effective for the City beginning with its year ending December 31, 2019.

GASB Statement No. 85, Omnibus — (“GASB 85") the objective of this Statement is to address practice issues
that have been identified during implementation and application of certain GASB Statements. The statement
addresses various miscellaneous issues related to blending component units, goodwill, fair value
measurement and application, and postemployment benefits (OPEB). GASB 85 will be effective for the City
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a)

beginning with its year ending December 31, 2018.

GASB Statement No. 86, Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues — (“GASB 86") establishes accounting and
financial reporting for in-substance defeasance of debt by providing guidance for transactions in which cash
and other monetary assets acquired with only existing resources (resources other than the proceeds of
refunding debt) are placed in an irrevocable trust for the sole purpose of extinguishing debt. GASB 86 will be
effective for the City beginning with its year ending December 31, 2018.

GASB Statement No. 87, Leases — (“GASB 87”) will improve accounting and financial reporting for leases by
governments by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were
classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the
payment provisions of the contract. The Statement will establish a single model for lease accounting based
on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this
Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a
lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources. This Statement will
increase the usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring reporting of certain lease liabilities
that are currently not reported. GASB 87 will be effective for the City beginning with its year ending
December 31, 2020.

GASB Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, Including Direct Borrowings and Direct
Placements — (“GASB 88") will improve the information that is disclosed in notes to government financial
statements related to debt, including direct borrowings and direct placements. It also clarifies which liabilities
governments should include when disclosing information related to debt. GASB 88 will be effective for the
City beginning with its year ending December 31, 2019.

Reporting Entity — The financial reporting entity consists of the City and its component units, which are
legally separate organizations for which the City is financially accountable. The financial statements for the
City have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAP), applicable to governmental units, as required by the Municipal Code of Chicago (Code).
The City includes the Chicago Public Library.

The City’s financial statements include the following legal entities as fiduciary trust funds:

The Municipal Employees’ Annuity and Benefit Fund of Chicago is governed by a five-member board: three
members are elected by plan participants and two are members ex-officio.

The Laborers’ and Retirement Board Employees’ Annuity and Benefit Fund of Chicago is governed by an
eight-member board: two members are elected by plan participants, two are members ex-officio, two
members are appointed by the City Department of Human Resources, one member is elected by retired plan
participants and one member is elected by the local labor union.

The Policemen’s Annuity and Benefit Fund of Chicago is governed by an eight-member board: four members
are elected by plan participants and four are appointed by the Mayor.

The Firemen’s Annuity and Benefit Fund of Chicago is governed by an eight-member board: four members
are elected by plan participants and four are members ex-officio.

Financial statements for each of these four pension plans (collectively, “Pension Plans”) may be obtained at
the respective Pension Plans’ offices.

Blended Component Unit

The City’'s financial statements also include, as a blended component unit, the Sales Tax Securitization
Corporation (the “STSC”"). The STSC is a special purpose not-for-profit corporation incorporated under the
provisions of the General Not-For-Profit Corporation Act of 1986 of the State of Illinois (805 ILCS 105) (the
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b)

“State”), as amended, and organized in accordance with an ordinance adopted by the City of Chicago City
Council on October 11, 2017. The STSC is a non-stock corporation, has no members, and is governed by a
board of directors (the “Board”). Except as described in the following sentence, the Board has five voting
directors all of whom are officials of the City. The STSC's Bylaws require the vote of an additional
“independent director” as a condition to taking certain actions. The independent director would be appointed
by the Mayor of the City prior to any such actions.

Pursuant to a sale agreement authorized by Division 13 of Article 8 of the lllinois Municipal Code, in 2017 the
City entered into an Assignment, Purchase and Sale Agreement (“Sale Agreement”) with the STSC under
which the City sold its right, title and interest in and to certain sales tax revenues collected by the State (the
“Sales Tax Revenues”). The Sales Tax Revenues consist of (a) revenues resulting from collection of three
separate taxes (collectively, the “Home Rule Sales Tax Revenues”) imposed by the City pursuant to its home
rule powers and authority granted by State statute; and (b) revenues resulting from the collection of four
separate taxes (collectively, the “Local Share Sales Tax Revenues”) imposed by the State. In exchange for
selling its right, title and interest in the Sales Tax Revenues, the City received a residual certificate which
represents the City’'s ownership interest in excess Sales Tax Revenues to be received by the STSC to pay
debt service requirements of any outstanding obligations and administrative costs during the term of the Sale
Agreement. The Sale Agreement is effective until there are no secured obligations outstanding for the STSC.

On December 14, 2017, the STSC issued $743.7 million of bonds (the “2017 Bonds”) to provide funds for the
STSC to use, along with the proceeds of any additional bonds issued by the STSC. The proceeds from the
2017 Bonds were applied by the City to refund all of the outstanding City of Chicago Sales Tax Revenue
Bonds and refund certain of the City’s outstanding general obligation bonds.

The STSC provides benefits exclusively to the City, and as a result, is presented as a blended component
unit of the City.

The City reports the General Fund of the STSC as a non-major special revenue fund and the Debt Service
Fund of the STSC as a major debt-service fund.

Complete financial statements of the STSC can be obtained at www.salestaxsecuritizationcorporation.com.

The City's officials are responsible for appointing a voting majority of the members of the boards of other
organizations, but the City’'s accountability for these organizations does not extend beyond making
appointments and no financial accountability or fiscal dependency exists between the City and these
organizations. Therefore, the Chicago Park District, Chicago Public Building Commission, Chicago Public
Schools, Community College District No. 508, Chicago Housing Authority and the Chicago Transit Authority
are deemed to be related organizations.

Government-wide and fund financial statements - The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the
statement of net position and the statement of activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities
of the government. For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these
statements. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on user fees
and charges for services.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or
segment is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identified with a specific
function or segment. Program revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use or
directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or
segment. Taxes and other items not included among program revenues are reported instead as general
revenues. Separate fund financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and
fiduciary funds, even though the fiduciary funds are excluded from the government-wide financial statements.
Major individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns

53



CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

in the fund financial statements.

Measurement focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement presentation - The government-wide
financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when
earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.
Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are
recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both
measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City
considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 90 days of the end of the current fiscal period
with the exception of property tax revenue, which is recorded as deferred inflows unless taxes are received
within 60 days subsequent to year-end. Licenses and permits, charges for services and miscellaneous
revenues are not considered to be susceptible to accrual and are recorded as revenues when received in
cash. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by
the City. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under the accrual basis of
accounting, except for interest and principal on long-term debt, the long-term portion of compensated
absences, claims and judgments, and pension obligations.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund. It accounts for and reports all financial resources
not accounted for and reported in another fund.

Federal, State and Local Grants Fund accounts for the expenditures for programs, which include
general government, health, public safety, transportation, aviation, cultural and recreational, and capital
outlays. The majority of revenues are provided by several agencies of the Federal government,
departments of the lllinois State government and City resources.

Special Taxing Areas Fund accounts for expenditures for special area operations and maintenance and
for redevelopment project costs as provided by tax levies on special areas.

Service Concession and Reserve Fund accounts for monies committed for mid- and long-term uses.
The Mid-term portion is subject to appropriation for neighborhood human infrastructure programs, health,
and other initiatives, whereas the Long-term portion is committed for future budgetary and credit rating
stabilization. These reserves were created as a result of the Skyway Lease and Parking Meter System
transactions. The deferred inflows result from long-term concession and lease transactions whose
proceeds are recognized as revenue over the term of the agreements.

Bond, Note Redemption and Interest Fund accounts for the expenditures for principal and interest as
provided by property tax, utility tax, sales tax, transportation tax, and investment income.

STSC Debt Service Fund accounts for the expenditures for principal and interest as provided by sales
tax revenues.

Community Development and Improvement Projects Funds account for proceeds of debt used to
acquire property, finance construction, and finance authorized expenditures and supporting services for
various activities.

Pension Fund accounts for the City’s contribution to the City’s four Employees’ Annuity and Benefit
Funds as provided by the tax levy and other sources of revenue, including the allocable share from
Enterprise Funds and Special Revenue Funds.
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Within the governmental fund types, fund balances are reported in one of the following classifications:

Nonspendable includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either: (a) not in a spendable
form; or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.

Restricted includes amounts that are restricted to specific purposes, that is, when constraints placed on
the use of resources are either: (a) externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants),
grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (b) imposed by law through
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

Committed includes amounts constrained to specific purposes by a government itself, using its highest
level of decision-making authority (i.e., City Council); to be reported as committed, amounts cannot be
used for any other purpose unless the government takes the same highest-level action to remove or
change the constraint. The City’s highest level of decision-making authority is held by the City Council.
The City Council passes Ordinances to commit their fund balances.

Assigned includes amounts that are constrained by the City’s intent to be used for specific purposes,
but that are neither restricted nor committed. Intent is expressed by: (a) the City Council itself; or (b) a
body or official to which the City Council has delegated the authority to assign amounts to be used for
specific purposes. The Budget Director or Comptroller has authority to assign amounts related to certain
legal obligations outside of the appropriation process within the General Fund. Within the other
governmental fund types (special revenue, debt service, and capital projects) resources are assigned in
accordance with the established fund purpose and approved appropriation. Residual fund balances in
these fund types that are not restricted or committed are reported as assigned.

Unassigned includes the residual fund balance that has not been restricted, committed, or assigned
within the General Fund and deficit fund balances of other governmental funds.

The City reports the following major proprietary funds as business-type activities:

Water Fund accounts for the operations of the Chicago Water System (Water). The Water system
purifies and provides Lake Michigan water for the City and 125 suburbs. The Water Fund operates two
water purification facilities with a combined output pumping capacity of 2,160 million gallons per day and
12 pumping stations with a combined pumping capacity of 3,661 million gallons per day.

Sewer Fund accounts for the operations of the Wastewater Transmission System (Sewer). The Sewer
system transports wastewater to the Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago for
processing and disposal. This service is provided for the residents and businesses of the City and certain
suburban customers.

Chicago Midway International Airport Fund records operations of Chicago Midway International
Airport (Midway) that provides regional travelers with access to airlines that generally specialize in low-
cost, point-to-point, origin and destination passenger services. Midway Airport is conveniently located 10
miles from downtown Chicago.

Chicago-O’Hare International Airport Fund records operations of Chicago-O’Hare International Airport
(O’Hare), the primary commercial airport for the City. The airlines serving the Airport operate out of four
terminal buildings with a total of 185 gates as of December 31, 2017. Three domestic terminal buildings,
having a total of 165 aircraft gates serve domestic flights and certain international departures. The
International Terminal, with 20 aircraft gates and four hardstand positions, serves the remaining
international departures and all international arrivals.

Chicago Skyway Fund records operations of the Chicago Skyway (Skyway) which provides vehicle
passage across the Calumet River, between the State of Indiana and the State of lllinois (State) through
the operation of a tollway which consists of a 7.8-mile span connecting the Dan Ryan Expressway to the
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Indiana Toll Road. Facilities include a single toll plaza consisting of a central office, maintenance garage
and toll collection area. In January 2005, the City entered into a long-term Concession and Lease
Agreement of the Skyway, granting a private company the ability to operate and to collect toll revenue
during the 99-year term of the agreement. The City received a one-time upfront payment of $1.83 billion.

Additionally, the City reports the following fiduciary funds:

Pension Trust Funds report expenditures for employee pensions as provided by employee and
employer contributions and investment earnings.

Agency Funds account for transactions for assets held by the City as agent for certain activities or for
various entities. Payroll deductions and special deposits are the primary transactions accounted for in
these funds.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial
statements. Exceptions to this general rule are payment-in-lieu of taxes and other charges between the City’s
water, sewer, airports and skyway funds. Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program
revenues reported for the various functions concerned.

Amounts reported as program revenues include: (1) charges to customers or applicants for goods and services,
or privileges provided, or fines; (2) operating grants and contributions; and (3) capital grants and contributions,
including special assessments. General revenues include internally dedicated resources and taxes.

Certain indirect costs have been included as part of the program expenses reported for the various functional
activities.

In the fund financial statements, proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-
operating items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating
revenues of the water and sewer funds are charges to customers for sales and services. The airport funds’
principal operating revenues are derived from landing fees and terminal use charges as well as rents and
concessions. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative
expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported
as non-operating revenues and expenses.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to use restricted
resources first, then unrestricted resources, as they are needed.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make certain estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

d) Assets, liabilities, deferred inflows, deferred outflows, and net position or equity

i) Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments generally are held with the City Treasurer as required by the
Code. Interest earned on pooled investments is allocated to participating funds based upon their average
combined cash and investment balances. Due to contractual agreements or legal restrictions, the cash
and investments of certain funds are segregated and earn and receive interest directly. The City uses
separate escrow accounts in which certain tax revenues are deposited and held for payment of debt.

The Code permits deposits only to City Council-approved depositories, which must be regularly organized
state or national banks and federal and state savings and loan associations, located within the City,
whose deposits are federally insured.

Investments authorized by the Code include interest-bearing general obligations of the City, State and
U.S. Government; U.S. Treasury bills and other noninterest-bearing general obligations of the U.S.
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Government purchased in the open market below face value; commercial paper and State and Local
Government Series (SLGS), domestic money market funds regulated and in good standing with the
Securities and Exchange Commission and tax anticipation warrants issued by the City. The City is
prohibited by ordinance from investing in derivatives, as defined, without City Council approval. The City
values its investments at fair value or amortized cost. U.S. Government securities purchased at a price
other than par with a maturity of less than or equal to one year are reported at amortized cost.

The City’s four retirement plans are authorized to invest in bonds, notes, and other obligations of the U.S.
Government; corporate debentures and obligations; insured mortgage notes and loans; common and
preferred stocks; stock options; real estate; and other investment vehicles as set forth in the lllinois
Compiled Statutes. These investments are reported at fair value.

Repurchase agreements can be purchased only from banks and certain other institutions authorized to
do business in the State. The City Treasurer requires that securities that are pledged to secure these
agreements have a fair value equal to the cost of the repurchase agreements plus accrued interest.

Investments generally may not have a maturity date in excess of thirty years from the date of purchase.
Certain other investments are held in accordance with the specific provisions of applicable ordinances.
Cash equivalents include certificates of deposit and other investments with maturities of three months or
less when purchased.

Deficit cash balances result in interfund borrowings from the aggregate of funds other than escrowed
funds. Interest income and expense are generally not recognized on these interfund borrowings.

State statutes, the City and the City’'s Pension Plans’ policies permit lending securities to broker-dealers
and other entities with a simultaneous agreement to return the collateral for the same securities in the
future. Securities lent at year-end for cash collateral are presented as not categorized in the schedule of
custodial credit risk; securities lent for securities collateral are classified according to the category for the
collateral.

Securities Lending by the Pension Plans - The State Statutes and the Board of Trustees permit the
Pension Plans to lend its securities to broker-dealers and other entities with a simultaneous agreement to
return collateral for the same securities in the future. The Plans’ custodians, acting as the lending agent,
lends securities for collateral in the form of cash, U.S. Government obligations and irrevocable letters of
credit equal to 102% of the fair value of domestic securities plus accrued interest and 105% of the fair
value of foreign securities plus accrued interest. The Plan does not have the right to sell or pledge
securities received as collateral unless the borrower defaults. All securities loans can be terminated on
demand within a period specified in each agreement by either the Funds or the borrowers. The contracts
with the Fund’s custodian require the securities lending agent to indemnify the Funds.

Municipal Employees’ - The average term of securities loaned was 75 days at December 31, 2017. The
cash collateral is invested in tri-party repurchase agreements and bank deposits which had a weighted
average maturity of 34 days at December 31, 2017.

Laborers’ Employees’ - The average term of securities loaned was 67 days at December 31, 2017. Cash
collateral may be invested in a short-term investment pool, which had a weighted average maturity of 28
days at December 31, 2017.

Policemen’s Employees’ - The average term of the Fund’s loan was approximately 1 day as of December
31, 2017. Cash collateral was reinvested in indemnified repurchase agreements which had an interest
sensitivity of 3.48 days at December 31, 2017.

Firemen’s Employees’ - The average term of securities loaned was 59 days in 2017. Cash collateral may
be invested in a short-term investment pool, which had a weighted average maturity of 27 days at
December 31, 2017.
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i)

v)

Receivables and Payables activity between funds are representative of services rendered, outstanding
at the end of the fiscal year, and are referred to as either “due to/from other funds” (i.e., the current
portion of interfund loans) or “advances to/from other funds” (i.e., the noncurrent portion of interfund
loans). Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type
activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as “internal balances.”

All trade and property tax receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles. The allowance is
based on historical trends. The estimated value of services provided but unbilled at year-end has been
included in receivables.

Inventory includes government-wide inventories, which are stated at cost determined principally, using
the average cost method. For proprietary funds, the costs of inventories are recorded as expenses when
used (consumption method). Governmental fund inventories are accounted for using the purchases
method and represent nonspendable resources because they do not represent expendable available
financial resources.

Restricted Assets include certain proceeds of the City’s enterprise fund revenue bonds, as well as
certain resources set aside for their repayment. These assets are classified as restricted or committed in
the basic financial statements because they are maintained in separate bank accounts and their use is
limited by applicable bond covenants or specific City Council action.

The Water and Sewer funds maintain Rate Stabilization Accounts where any net revenues remaining
after providing sufficient funds for all required deposits in the bond accounts may be transferred upon the
direction of the City to be used for any lawful purpose of the specific fund.

The O’Hare and Midway funds maintain Passenger Facility Charge accounts as restricted as they are
subject to Federal Aviation Administration regulation and approval, to finance specific eligible capital and
debt related activities.

Capital Assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g. roads, bridges,
sidewalks, and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities
columns in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the City as assets,
or a network of assets, with an initial cost of more than $5,000 (not rounded) and an estimated useful life
in excess of one year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if
purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date of
donation.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially
extend assets’ lives are not capitalized.

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. Interest
incurred during the construction phase of capital assets of business-type activities is included as part of
the capitalization value of the assets constructed. The total interest expense (Governmental and
Business Activities) incurred by the City during the current fiscal year was $1,265.3 million, of which
$91.5 million was capitalized as part of the capital assets under construction projects in proprietary funds.

Property, plant, and equipment of the City are depreciated using the straight-line method, in the year
subsequent to acquisition or when placed into service, over the following estimated useful lives:
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ULIILY PIANT. ..o e e 25 - 100 years
Utility structures and improvemMents.........ccccvvvvveveeesiersnneesneenenens 50 - 100 years
Buildings and improvements...........ccceevueerieeiiee e 10 - 40 years
Airport runways, aprons, tunnels, taxiways, and paved roads....... 30 years
Bridge infrastruCtUre.........oooveeiie e 10- 40 years
Lighting infrastruCture...........oceeiiiiie e 25 years
Street INfrastrUCtUre........ee i 10- 25 years
Transit iNfrastruCture..........ooooive i 25 - 40 years
Equipment (vehicle, office, and computer) ..........ccccoeviiiniieennen. 5- 20 years

The City has a collection of artwork and historical treasures presented for public exhibition and education
that are being preserved for future generations. The proceeds from sales of any pieces of the collection
are used to purchase other acquisitions. A portion of this collection is not capitalized or depreciated as
part of capital assets.

Deferred Outflows represent unamortized loss on bond refundings, the fair value of derivative
instruments that are deemed to be effective hedges, differences between estimated and actual
investment earnings related to pensions, changes in actuarial assumptions related to pensions and other
pension related changes.

vii) Employee Benefits are granted for vacation and sick leave, workers’ compensation and health care.

Unused vacation leave is accrued and may be partially carried over for one year. Sick leave is
accumulated at the rate of one day for each month worked, up to a maximum of 200 days. Severance of
employment terminates all rights to receive compensation for any unused sick leave. Sick leave pay is
not accrued. Employee benefit claims outstanding, including claims incurred but not reported, are
estimated and recorded in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. A liability for
these amounts is reported in governmental funds only if they have matured, for example, as a result of
employee resignations and retirements.

Employees are eligible to defer a portion of their salaries until future years under the City’'s deferred
compensation plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 457. The deferred
compensation is not available to employees until termination, retirement, death or unforeseeable
emergency. Third-party administrators who maintain the investment portfolio administer the Plan. The
plan’s assets have been placed in trust accounts with the plan administrators for the exclusive benefit of
participants and their beneficiaries and are not considered assets of the City.

The City is subject to the State of lllinois Unemployment Compensation Act and has elected the
reimbursing employer option for providing unemployment insurance benefits for eligible former
employees. Under this option, the City reimburses the State for claims paid by the State. Expenditures
for workers’ compensation are recorded when paid in the governmental funds. A liability for these
amounts is recorded in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements.

viii)JJudgments and claims are included in the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund

types. Uninsured claim expenditures and liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has
occurred and the amount of that loss can be reasonably estimated. These losses include an estimate of
claims that have been incurred but not reported. In the fund financial statements, expenditures for
judgments and claims are recorded on the basis of settlements reached or judgments entered within the
current fiscal year. Amounts that relate to deferred compensatory time and reserves for questioned costs
are treated the same way.

Long-term obligations are included in the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund
types in the fund financial statements. Long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as
liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type
statement of net position. Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and
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X)

xi)

amortized over the life of the related debt, except in the case of refunding debt transactions where the
amortization period is over the term of the refunding or refunded debt, whichever is shorter.

The City enters into interest rate swap agreements to modify interest rates and/or cash flows on
outstanding debt. For existing swaps, the net interest expenditures resulting from these arrangements
are recorded as interest expense. The fair value of derivative instruments that are deemed to be effective
is accounted for as deferred outflows. Derivative instruments that are deemed not effective are adjusted
to fair value with the change in fair value recorded to investment earnings. Under certain bond
ordinances adopted by the City Council, interest rate swaps and swaptions are authorized to be entered
into by designated City officials in connection with certain bonds issued by the City. For swaps related to
Midway Bonds, airline approval is also required before entering into a swap agreement.

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as
bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other
financing sources. Premiums received and discounts given on debt issued are reported as other
financing sources or uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds
received, are reported as expenditures.

Certain debt obligations are to be paid from sales tax, motor fuel or special area taxes.

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
City’'s four pension plans and additions to/deductions from the City’'s Pension Plans fiduciary net position
have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the Pension Plans. For this purpose,
benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. The financial statements of
the Plans are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.

Deferred inflows represent amounts to be recognized as revenue on a straight line basis over the life of
the related long-term lease and concession agreements and differences between projected and actual
actuarial experience related to pensions, and other pension related changes. In the fund financials,
grants that meet all of the eligibility criteria except for time availability and property taxes levied for a
future period are also included in deferred inflows.

Net Position in the government-wide statements is classified in three components:

(1) Net investment in capital assets - Consists of capital assets including restricted capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes
or any other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those
assets.

(2) Restricted net position - Consists of net position with constraints placed on the use either by external
groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments, or are
legally restricted through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

Restricted net position for business activities are provided in Exhibit 7, Statement of Net Position,
Proprietary Funds.

(3) Unrestricted - All other net positions that do not meet the definition of “restricted” or “net investment in
capital assets.” As of December 31, 2017, the unrestricted net position represents a deficit.
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2) Reconciliation of Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

a) Explanation of certain differences between the governmental funds balance sheet and the
government-wide statement of net position.

i) The governmental funds balance sheet includes a reconciliation between fund balance — total
governmental funds and net position - governmental activities as reported in the government-wide
statement of net position. One element of that reconciliation explains that “Other long-term assets are not
available to pay for current-period expenditures and therefore are deferred in the funds.” The details of
this $1,832.9 million are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Deferred inflows - Property tax .......ccooccvveeeeeeiiiiiieiee e $ 1,582,968
Deferred inflows - grants .......cooocceiiiiee e 243,150
Deferred inflows - charges for SErviCes ........ccocovvvvveeiiiiiiene e, 1,968
Deferred inflows - ULIlity 18X .......cooiiiiiiiiiii e 4,796
Net adjustment to increase fund balance - total governmental funds

- to arrive at net position - governmental activities .................cccuueee. $ 1,832,882

ii) Another element of that reconciliation explains that “Certain liabilities and deferred outflows, including
bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds.”
The details of this $40,923.8 million are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Long-term liabilities:

Total bonds, notes and certificates payable ..............cccovvvvnnnnnn. $ (11,117,049)
Pension benefits ........cooviiiiii i (25,058,993)
Other postemployment benefits ...........cooooiiiiiiiiii (187,641)
Pollution remediation ............cc.uuiiiiiiiiiiieii e (35,044)
Claims and Judgments .........coooveuiiiiiiiii e (1,012,756)
Total Long-term labilities ...........ccovveerieeiiiiii e (37,411,483)
Accounts payable - infrastructure retainage ...........ccooeeveevieeeeennnn. (7,557)
Bonds, notes and other obligations payable current ...................... 81,297
Deferred outflows-unamortized loss on refunding .................o.cc... 177,493
Deferred outflows-pension COSES ........ccccviiiiiiiiiiiieiiiin e 3,912,377
Deferred iNflOWS-PeNSION ........ooieeeiiiiiiiiiie e (6,900,534)
Accrued and other liabilities - compensated absences .................. (85,098)
Accrued and other liabilities - pension payable to pension funds .... (690,329)

Net adjustment to reduce fund balance - total
governmental funds - to arrive at net position -
governmental aCtiVItIES ............cvvvviiiiiiiiiiiiieee e, $ (40,923,834)

b) Explanation of certain differences between the governmental funds’ statement of revenues,
expenditures, and changes in fund balances and the government-wide statement of activities.

i) The governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances includes a
reconciliation between net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds and changes in net
position - governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of activities. One
element of that reconciliation explains that “Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.
However, in the statements of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful
lives and reported as depreciation expense.” The details of this $127.8 million are as follows (dollars in
thousands):
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Capitalized asset expenditures ...........ccccvveeeeeeeeeinnns $ 527,205
Depreciation eXPense ............eeveeeeeeiiiiiniieeeeeeiiiinn (399,446)

Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund
balances - total governmental funds - to arrive at
changes in net position - governmental activities ..... $ 127,759

ii) Another element of that reconciliation states that “Bond proceeds provide current financial resources to
governmental funds, but issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net position.” The
details of this decrease of $802.6 million are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Proceeds Of GEDE ......cciiiiiiiiie e $ (1,923,972)
Proceeds from liNe Of Credit ..........uveeviiii (77,203)
(Premium) / DISCOUNL ......uuiieeeeeeeeeeeeiis s s e e e e e e s s e e e e e e e e e eeeabba s e e e e e eeaeeeenennnes (12,161)
Payment to refunded bond €SCrow agent ...........cooeeeeeiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee 971,766
PrinCIPal FEHIEIMENE ... uuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieee et 353,945
INEEFEST EXPEINSE ... iiiiieiiiiiie et e e e s e e e e e e e e ettt s s e e e e e e e e eeaaataa s s e e eeeeeeeenennnes (115,016)

Net adjustment to reduce net changes in fund balances - total
governmental funds - to arrive at changes in net position - governmental activities .. $ (802,641)

Another element of that reconciliation states that “Certain expenses reported in the statement of activities do not
require the use of current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.”
The details of this decrease of $1,428.8 million are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Claims and Judgments .............eevvermrirrremieeiieiieiiieeeeeeeeee $ (70,134)
PENSION COSES ...vvviiiiiiiiii et (1,341,837)
Other post employment benefit liabilities ....................... (20,432)
Pollution remediation ...........cooooeiiiiniiiiies (1,843)
AV 2= (o= 1T o TR 3,267
INVENEOTY ... 2,214

Net adjustment to reduce net changes in fund
balances - total governmental funds - to arrive at
changes in net position - governmental activities ......... $  (1,428,765)

3) Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability

a) Annual Appropriation Budgets are established for the General Fund and the Vehicle Tax, Pension,

Chicago Public Library and certain Miscellaneous, Special Events, Tourism and Festivals nonmajor Special
Revenue Funds, on a non-GAAP budgetary basis:

i) Prior to October 15, the Mayor submits to the City Council a proposed budget of expenditures and the
means of financing them for the next year.

ii) The budget document is available for public inspection for at least ten days prior to passage of the annual
appropriation ordinance by the City Council, which is also required to hold at least one public hearing.

iii) Prior to January 1, the budget is legally enacted through passage of the appropriation ordinance.
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b)

c)

iv) Subsequent to the enactment of the appropriation ordinance, the City Council has the authority to make
necessary adjustments to the budget, which results in a change in total or individual appropriations. The
legal level of budgetary control is designated in the budget by object grouped by purpose.

v) All annual appropriations unused and unencumbered lapse at year-end. Encumbered appropriations are
carried forward to the following year. Project-length financial plans are adopted for Capital Project Funds.
Appropriations for Debt Service Funds are established by bond ordinance.

Reconciliation of GAAP Basis to Budgetary Basis - The City’s budgetary basis of accounting used for
budget vs. actual reporting differs from GAAP. For budgetary purposes, encumbrances are recorded as
expenditures but are included in “Unassigned” fund balance for GAAP purposes. For budgetary purposes,
proceeds of long-term debt and transfers in are classified as revenues. For budgetary purposes prior years’
resources used to cover current year budgetary expenditures are recorded as revenues. For GAAP
purposes, proceeds of long-term debt and transfers out are treated as other financing sources. Provision for
doubtful account expenditures are not budgeted. A reconciliation of the different basis of revenue and
expenditure recognition for the year ended December 31, 2017 is as follows (dollars in thousands):

General
Fund
Revenues, GAAP Basis ..........cccceevviiiiiinennnnn. $ 3,559,459
Add:

Transfers IN ... 180,227
Revenues, Budgetary Basis ...........cccccoeeeueennne. $ 3,739,686
Expenditures, GAAP Basis ............ccceveevneennnn. $ 3,454,858
Add:

Transfers OUL ... 268,263

Encumbered in 2017.......covvveieieiiiiiiiaene, 16,857
Deduct:

Payments on Prior Years' Encumbrances ..... (24,511)

Payments on Prior Years' Assignments ........ (15,000)
Expenditures, Budgetary Basis ............c...c...... $ 3,700,467

Individual Fund Deficits include the Chicago Skyway Fund, an Enterprise Fund, which has a fund deficit of
$1,334.4 million which management anticipates will be funded through recognition of deferred inflows.
Midway International Airport Fund has a fund deficit of $307.0 million which will be funded through future
revenues. Federal State and Local Grants, a governmental fund, has a deficit of $241.4 million and will be
funded by the recognition of deferred grant inflows and unearned revenue. The Service Concession and
Reserve Fund, a Special Revenue Fund, has a deficit fund balance of $844.9 million which will be funded
through the recognition of deferred inflows. The Bond, Note Redemption and Interest Fund, a Debt Service
Fund, has a deficit fund balance of $329.0 million which will be funded through the amortization of the
deferred inflow associated with the City’s sale of sales tax revenues to the STSC. The STSC is a blended
component unit and for presentation purposes deferred inflows have been reclassified as internal balances.
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4) Restricted and Unrestricted Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

a) Investments As of December 31, 2017, the City had the following Investments (dollars in thousands):

Investment Type Maturities (in Years)
Less Than 1 1-5 6-10 More Than 10 Total
City Funds

U.S. Treasuries .....ccoceeeeeeeeeeenennn, $ 312630 $ 4925 $ - $ - $ 317,555
U.S. AQENCIES™ ..oovvveeeeeiiieesiieenes 726,748 656,544 9,426 - 1,392,718
Commercial Paper ........c.ccoceeeevnen. 1,250,365 - - - 1,250,365
Corporate Bonds .........ccccceeeiiveennne. 136,926 548,752 513,464 281,912 1,481,054
Corporate Equities ..........cccecueenee. 795 - - - 795
Certificates of Deposit and

Other Short-term .......ccooevvvvvennenn. 2,645,371 - - - 2,645,371
Municipal Bonds .........c.cccccveiiiinene 122,058 417,873 240,088 354,166 1,134,185
State and Local

Government Series ...........cceee.... 127,134 151,670 - - 278,804
Total City Funds .........ccccveevinenee. $ 5,322,027 $ 1,779,764 $ 762978 $ 636,078 $ 8,500,847

*U.S. Agencies include investments in government-sponsored enterprises such as Federal National Mortgage
Association, Federal Home Loan Banks, and Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation.

Included in the table above are investments held with escrow agent.

Pension Trust Funds
U.S. and Foreign

Government Agencies ............... $ 30,274 $ 202,007 $ 153378 $ 309,289 $ 694,948
Corporate Bonds .........ccccceeuvnennn. 765,765 387,022 290,255 206,566 1,649,608
Corporate Equities ..........cccccvvennee. 5,062,007 - - - 5,062,007
Pooled FUNds ...........coooeveviiiiinnnnns 128,774 20,915 - - 149,689
Real EState ......cccceeeeeeeeeeieiiiieeinnnn, 569,995 - - - 569,995
Securities Received from

Securities Lending ..........cccoeo. 553,047 - - - 553,047
Venture Capital .......ccccooovevevniennnn. 463,693 - - - 463,693
Certificates of Deposit and

Other Short-term ........................ 292,872 - - - 292,872
Derivatives .........cccovevvvvvvvvvciieennnn. 27,924 - - - 27,924
Other i 31,155 126,055 74,365 - 231,575
Total Pension Trust Funds ........... $ 7925506 $ 735999 $ 517998 $ 515,855 $ 9,695,358
o] <= | $ 13,247533 $ 2,515,763 $ 1,280,976 $ 1,151,933 $18,196,205

City’s Fair Value Measurements for Investments:

The City categorizes the fair value measurements of its investments based on the hierarchy established by
generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation techniques used to
measure fair value.

Level 1 - Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets
Level 2 - Observable inputs other than quoted market prices, and
Level 3 - Unobservable Inputs

Investments that are valued using net asset value per share (NAV) (or its equivalent) as a practical expedient
are not classified in the fair value hierarchy.
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The investments measured value at fair value as of December 31, 2017 are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Investments by Fair Value Level Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
U.S. TreaSUNES ....eveeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ - $ 45,797 $ -
U.S. AQENCIES ...oevivieiiiiieiiiineeci e - 1,252,599 -
Corporate Bonds ..........ccccevevvviieiiiinneeiinns - 1,457,667 -
Municipal Bonds .........ccooooiiiiiiiiiiiiinnnn, - 1,111,777 -
State and Local Government Series ........... - 217,792

Total Investments at Fair Value ............ $ - $ 4,085,632 $ -

Money market investments and participating interest-earning investment contracts that have a remaining
maturity at the time of purchase of one year or less and are held by governments other than the external
investment pools are measured at amortized cost and are not reflected in the table above. The total of these
investments at amortized cost for the City are $4,415.2 million.

Pension Trust Funds' Investments (Dollars in thousands):

Summary Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
U.S.and Foreign
Govenment Agencies..  $ 694,948  $ - $ 694827 $ 121
Corporate Bonds ............. 1,130,862 - 1,130,794 68
Corporate Equities ........... 4,502,197 4,497,635 4,062 500
Pooled Funds .................. 124,230 5,711 118,519 -
Real Estate .........ccccvevene. 15,100 15,100 -
Securities Received from
Securities Lending ........ 553,047 - 553,047
Certificates of Deposit
and Other Short-term ... 222,732 30,117 192,590 25
Derivatives ..........ccoeeanen. 27,924 - 27,924
Other ..o 204,719 - 204,719 -
Subtotal ......ccccoeveieenes 7,475,759 4,548,563 2,926,482 714
Investments measured Unfunded Redemption Redemption
at net asset value: Commitments Frequency Notice
Corporate Bonds ............. $ 518746 $ 9,450 as needed daily, monthly
Corporate Equities ........... 559,810 - as needed; quarterly, not eligible daily, up to 90 days, N/A
Pooled Funds .................. 25,459 -
Real Estate ...........ccco..... 554,895 54,201  as needed; quarterly, N/A 60/90 days, open end or N/A
Venture Capital ............... 463,693 126,215  as needed or N/A 90 days or N/A
Certificates of Deposit
and Other Short-term ... 70,140 -
(0]111:T R 26,856 77,476  as needed or N/A up to 90 days or N/A
Subtotal .........ccevevennen. 2,219,599
Total ..ocveveriiiene, $ 9,695,358

* Other includes Fixed Assets & Hedge Fund of Funds.
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Corporate bonds - Include debt instruments created by companies for the purpose of raising capital and pay a
specified amount of interest on a regular basis.

Corporate equities - Include investments in funds primarily holding publicly traded US and non-US equity
securities.

Pooled funds - Include investments that are pooled to maximize the total return.

Real estate funds - Include investments in open and closed-end real estate funds. Investments in open-end
funds have limited redemption availability as redemption opportunities are based on available liquidity.
Closed-end funds do not offer redemptions. Distributions from closed-end funds will be received as the
underlying investments are liquidated.

Venture capital - Includes investments where the objective is to achieve long-term capital appreciation,
preserve capital, and achieve a consistent pattern of returns through investments in limited partnerships,
privately issued securities, private equity funds, and other pooled investments with a focus on the venture
sector and undervalued alternative investments. Closed-end limited partnership interests are generally illiquid
and cannot be redeemed.

Short-term investments - Include short-term investments of high quality and low risk to protect capital while
achieving investment returns.

Other - Includes Hedge Funds of long/short equity hedge fund-of-funds.

i) Interest Rate Risk — As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising interest
rates, the City's investment policy limits all securities so purchased, except tax anticipation warrants,
municipal bonds, notes, commercial paper or other instruments representing a debt obligation of the City,
which shall show on their face that they are fully payable as to principal and interest, where applicable, if
any, within thirty years from the date of purchase.

ii) Credit Risk — With regard to credit risk, the Code limits the investments in securities to:

(1) Interest-bearing general obligations of the United States and the State of lllinois;

(2) United States treasury bills and other non-interest bearing general obligations of the United States or
United States government agencies when offered for sale at a price below the face value of same, so
as to afford the City a return on such investment in lieu of interest;

(3) Tax anticipation warrants, municipal bonds, notes, commercial paper or other instruments
representing a debt obligation issued by the City, the Chicago Board of Education, the Chicago
Housing Authority, the Chicago Park District, the Chicago Transit Authority, and the City Colleges of
Chicago;

(4) Commercial paper which: (1) at the time of purchase, is rated in the two highest classifications by at
least two accredited ratings agencies; and (2) matures not more than 270 days after the date of
purchase;

(5) Reverse repurchase agreement if: (1) the term does not exceed 90 days; and (2) the maturity of the
investment acquired with the proceeds of the reverse repurchase agreement does not exceed the
expiration date of the reverse repurchase agreement; Reverse repurchase agreements may be
transacted with primary dealers and financial institutions, provided that the City has on file a master
repurchase agreement;

(6) Certificates of deposit of banks or savings and loan associations designated as municipal
depositories which are insured by federal deposit insurance; provided that any amount of the deposit
in excess of the federal deposit insurance shall be collateralized as noted in Custodial Credit Risk —
Cash and Certificates of Deposit below;
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(7) Bankers acceptance of banks whose senior obligations, at the time of purchase, are rated in either
the AAA or AA rating categories by at least two accredited ratings agencies;

(8) Tax-exempt securities exempt from federal arbitrage provisions applicable to investments of
proceeds of the City's tax-exempt debt obligations;

(9) Domestic money market mutual funds regulated by and in good standing with the Securities and
Exchange Commission; provided that such money market mutual funds' portfolios are limited to
investments authorized by this section;

(10)Any other suitable investment instrument permitted by state laws governing municipal investments
generally, subject to the reasonable exercise of prudence in making investments of public funds;

(11)Except where otherwise restricted or prohibited, a non-interest-bearing savings account, non-
interest-bearing checking account or other non-interest bearing demand account established in a
national or state bank, or a federal or state savings and loan association, when, in the determination
of the treasurer, the placement of such funds in the non-interest bearing account is used as
compensating balances to offset fees associated with that account that will result in cost savings to
the City;

(12)Bonds of companies organized in the United States with assets exceeding $1.0 billion that, at the
time of purchase, are rated not less than two classes above investment grade, or equivalent rating,
by at least two accredited ratings agencies;

(13)Debt instruments of international financial institutions, including but not limited to the World Bank and
the International Monetary Fund, that, at the time of purchase, are rated within four intermediate
credit ratings of the United States sovereign credit rating by at least two accredited ratings agencies,
but not less than an A-rating, or equivalent rating. The maturity of investments authorized in this
subsection shall not exceed 10 years. For purposes of this subsection, an “international financial
institution” means a financial institution that has been established or chartered by more than one
country and the owners or shareholders are generally national governments or other international
institutions such as the United Nations;

(14)United States dollar denominated debt instruments of foreign sovereignties that, at the time of
purchase, are rated within four intermediate credit ratings of the United States sovereign credit rating
by at least two accredited ratings agencies, but not less than an A-rating or equivalent rating;

(15)Interest-bearing bonds of any county, township, city, village, incorporated town, municipal
corporation, or school district, of the State of lllinois, of any other state, or of any political subdivision
or agency of the State of lllinois or of any other state, whether the interest earned thereon is taxable
or tax-exempt under federal law. The bonds shall be registered in the name of the city or held under a
custodial agreement at a bank. The bonds shall be rated, at the time of purchase, not less than A-, or
equivalent rating, by at least two accredited rating agencies with nationally recognized expertise in
rating bonds of states and their political subdivisions;

(16)Bonds registered and regulated by the Securities and Exchange Commission and for which the full
faith and credit of the State of Israel is pledged for payment; provided that the bonds have an A-rating
or above or equivalent rating by at least two accredited ratings agencies;

(17)Bonds, notes, debentures, or other similar obligations of agencies of the United States rated, at the
time of purchase, no less than AAA by at least two accredited rating agencies.

(18)Asset-backed or agency mortgage-backed securities, any of which are rated at least investment
grade by at least two accredited rating agencies, but no funds may be invested in: (1) obligations the
payment of which represents the coupon payments on the outstanding principal balance of the
underlying mortgage-backed security collateral that pays no principal (e.g., MBS Interest-Only Strips);
(2) obligations the payment of which represents the principal balance repayments from the underlying
mortgage-backed security collateral that pays no interest (e.g., MBS Principal-Only Strips); (3)
collateralized mortgage obligations ("CMOs") that have a stated final maturity date of greater than 10
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years; and (4) CMOs the interest rate of which is determined in a manner that adjusts in the opposite
direction to the changes in a market index (e.g.. Inverse Floating Rate CMOs).
(19)Interest in the Chicago Community Catalyst Fund.

Total holdings across all funds held by the City shall have no less than an overall average rating of Aal on a
quarterly basis, as rated by two accredited rating agencies. The following schedule summarizes the City's
and Pension Trust Funds’ exposure to credit risk (in thousands):

Pension Trust

Quality Rating City Quality Rating Funds
Aaa/AAA ... $ 2,855,158 Aaa/AAA ..., $ 226,045
A/AA L. 2,856,880 Aa/AA ..., 104,250
AIA 1,017,335  AJA 198,350
Baa/BBB ..........c.ccoeee. 88,882 Baa/BBB ........cccccoveenenee 330,375
Ba/BB .....cccooveiiireenn - Ba/BB ......cccoviiieieeis 220,051
BB .o - 27 = SR 148,547
Caal/CCC .....ccovvveriins - Caa/CCC .....ccovvvvverne 22,198
Ca ., - Ca . 455
CICC .o - CCIC i 4,634
DID oo - DID oo 3,962
PLAL . 1,320,670 NotRated ..........cccneee.. 327,372
P2/A2 ..o 18,249  Other .....cccocvvvveriennnn 431,137
MIG1/SP-1+ .....cccvvveee. 12,168
MIG2/SP-1+ .......cccvee. -

Not Rated* ................... 331,505
Total Funds .................. $ 8,500,847 $ 2,017,376

* Not rated is primarily composed of money market mutual funds.

iii) Custodial Credit Risk — Cash and Certificates of Deposit: This is the risk that in the event of a bank
failure, the City’s Deposits may not be returned. The City’s Investment Policy states that in order to
protect the City public fund deposits, depository institutions are to maintain collateral pledges on City
deposits and certificates of deposit during the term of the deposit.

For certificates of deposit of banks or savings and loan associations designhated as municipal depositories
which are insured by federal deposit insurance, any amount of the deposit in excess of the federal
deposit insurance shall be either: (1) fully collateralized at least 102 percent by: (i) marketable U.S.
government securities marked to market at least monthly; (ii) bonds, notes, or other securities constituting
the direct and general obligation of any agency or instrumentality of the United States; or (iii) bonds,
notes or other securities constituting a direct and general obligation of any county, township, city, village,
incorporated town, municipal corporation, or school district, of the State of lllinois or of any other state, or
of any political subdivision or agency of the State of lllinois or any other state which are rated in either the
AAA or AA rating categories by at least two accredited ratings agencies and maintaining such rating
during the term of such investments; (2) secured by a corporate surety bond issued by an insurance
company licensed to do business in the State of Illinois and having a claims-paying rating in the top rating
category as rated by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization and maintaining such rating
during the term of such investment; or (3) fully collateralized at least 102 percent by an irrevocable letter
of credit issued in favor of the City by the Federal Home Loan Bank, provided that the Federal Home
Loan Bank’s short-term debt obligations are rated in the highest rating category by at least one accredited
ratings agency throughout the term of the certificate of deposit.

The collateral required to secure City funds must be held in safekeeping and pursuant to collateral
agreements which would prohibit release or substitution of pledged assets without proper written
notification and authorization of the City Treasurer. The final maturity of acceptable collateral pledged
shall not exceed 120 months.
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The bank balance of cash and certificates of deposit with the City’s various municipal depositories was
$902.3 million. 96.6 percent of the bank balance was either insured or collateralized with securities held
by City agents in the City’'s name. $30.6 million was uncollateralized at December 31, 2017, and thus
was subject to custodial credit risk.

Custodial Credit Risk - Investments: For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event of the failure of
the counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities
that are in possession of an outside party. The City has no custodial credit risk exposure because
investment securities are insured, registered and held by the City.
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v) Foreign Currency Risk - In the case of the Pension Trust Funds, this is the risk that changes in exchange
rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment or a deposit. The risk of loss is managed by
limiting its exposure to fair value loss by requiring their international securities managers to maintain
diversified portfolios. The following schedule summarizes the Pension Trust Funds’ exposure to foreign

currency risk (in thousands):

Foreign Currency Risk

Argenting Peso .......cccvevveeeeen.
Australian dollar .....................
Brazilianreal ...........cccccuvvvennnes
British pound .................ooee.
Canadiandollar .....................
Chilean peso ........cccceeevvviinnn.
Chinese yuan ..........cccccoeeuene
Colombian peso .............ccuu....
Czech Republic koruna ...........
Danish krone ..........cccccceeeenne
Egyptian pound .....................
European euro ...........ccccueee.
HK Chinese Yuan renminbi ......
Hong Kong dollar ...................
Hungarian forint ......................
Indian rupee .........cccceeeeviiinn
Indonesian rupiah ...................
Japanese Yen ..........cccccvveennn,
Kenyan shilling ............cccccee....
Malaysian ringgit ....................
Mexican peso .........cccceeeeeennn.
New Israeli shekel ..................
New Taiwan dollar .................
New Zealand dollar ................
Norwegian kKrone ....................
Pakistan rupee ............cccuueee.
Philippines peso ............cc.uu...
Polish ZIoty .........cevvvveeveveennnn,
Qataririyal .......cvvvvvvvvveenrnnnnn,
Russianruble .........ccccceeeeeenne
Singapore dollar .....................
South Africanrand .................
South Korean won ..................
Swedish krona ........ccccccceee.
Swiss franc .........ccoeeieiiinnnns
Taiwan dollar .............cccceveeees
Thailand baht ............cccccvvnnnns
Turkish lira ...........ccooveeeeeennns
United Arab Emirates dirham ..

Total Pension Trust Funds ......
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$ 709
60,641
38,165

259,862
70,708
1,341
363
5,123
2,436
35,792
519
450,794
1
197,639
3,973
62,099
25,002
384,672
534
8,226
22,409
8,322
49,023
(5,134)
23,102
81
8,329
2,234
276
(808)
12,471
36,362
68,993
48,831
86,238
6,169
18,449
8,088
451

$ 2,002,485
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vi) The following schedule summarizes the cash and investments reported in the basic financial statements
(dollars in thousands):

Per Note 4:
INVeStMENES - CItY ....oovvviiiiiiiiiiie e, $ 8,500,847
Investments - Pension Trust Funds ...............cccoeeeeee. 9,695,358
$ 18,196,205
Per Financial Statements:
Restricted Investments ...........cccovvvviiiiiieeeieien e, $ 3,069,989
Unrestricted INVESIMENES .......ovveeviiiiiiiiieeeiciiieeeeeees 2,007,736
Investments with Fiduciary Funds ...............cccoeeeeennnnn. 9,009,391
Investments with Escrow Agent ..........cococeiveievinneenn. 665,528
Invested Securities Lending Collateral ....................... 553,047
Investments Included as Cash and Cash
Equivalents on the Statement of Net Position .......... 2,890,514
$ 18,196,205

5) Property Tax

The City's property tax becomes a lien on real property on January 1 of the year it is levied. The Cook County
Assessor (Assessor) is responsible for the assessment of all taxable real property within Cook County (County),
except for certain railroad property assessed directly by the State. The County Board has established a triennial
cycle of reassessment in which one-third of the County will be reassessed each year on a repeating schedule
established by the Assessor.

Property in the County is separated into fifteen classifications for assessment purposes. After the Assessor
establishes the fair market value of a parcel of land, that value is multiplied by one of the classification percentages to
arrive at the assessed valuation (Assessed Valuation) for that parcel. These percentages range from 10.0 percent for
certain residential, commercial, and industrial property to 25.0 percent for other commercial and industrial property.

The lllinois Department of Revenue has the statutory responsibility of ensuring uniformity of real property
assessments throughout the State. Each year, the lllinois Department of Revenue furnishes the county clerks with an
adjustment factor to equalize the level of assessment among counties. This factor (Equalization Factor) is then
applied to the Assessed Valuation to compute the valuation of property to which a tax rate will be applied (Equalized
Assessed Valuation). The County Clerk adds the Equalized Assessed Valuation of all real property in the County to
the valuation of property assessed directly by the State of lllinois and subtracts total amounts of EAV in Tax
Increment Financing Districts to arrive at the base amount (Tax Base) used in calculating the annual tax rates.

The County Clerk computes the annual tax rate by dividing the levy by the Tax Base and then computes the rate for
each parcel of real property by aggregating the tax rates of all governmental units having jurisdiction over that
particular parcel. The County Treasurer then issues the tax bills. Property taxes are deposited with the County
Treasurer, who remits to the City its respective share of the collections. Taxes levied in one year become due and
payable in two installments during the following year on March 1 and August 1 or 30 days from mailing of tax bills if
later than July 1. The first installment is 55.0 percent of the prior year’s tax bill. The second installment tax bill equals
the total tax liability for the year minus the first installment tax bill amount.

The City Council adopted an ordinance effective in 1994 limiting the City’s aggregate property tax levy to an amount
equal to the prior year’'s aggregate property tax levy plus the lesser of (a) five percent or (b) the percentage increase
in the annualized Consumer Price Index. The ordinance provides an exception for that portion of any property tax
debt service levy equal to the aggregate interest and principal payments on the City’'s general obligation bonds and
notes during the 12-month period ended January 1, 1994, subject to annual increase in the manner described above
for the aggregate levy, all as provided by the ordinance. Most general obligation bond levies approved after 2001
have also been excluded from this limit. In 2015 the City Council added an exception for portions of the property tax
levy used to meet the City’s pension obligations.
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6)

Interfund Balances and Transfers

a) The following balances at December 31, 2017 represent due from/to balances among all funds (dollars in

thousands):
Fund Type/Fund Due From Due To
Governmental Funds:
C1=107= = | $ 233,028 $ 185,342
Federal, State and Local Grants ............cc.ccoeeeveinnnenn. 22,474 253,145
Special Taxing Ar€as .........vvvevuieriieiiiiieeiaeeeieeeanneeens 88,489 1,581
Service Concession and RESEIVE ..........ccevvvvvvivniennnns 30,940 -
Bond, Note Redemption and Interest * ....................... 412 769,064
STSC Debt SErviCe * ...couiiiiiiiiiieieeie e, 769,064 -
Community Development and Improvement Projects ... 19,453 59,501
PENSION ..t - 123,896
Nonmajor Governmental Funds ...........cccooceivevinnennnnn. 100,608 62,421
Total Governmental Funds ............coccoevvviiiiiinieinnnns 1,264,468 1,454,950
Enterprise Funds:
WALET oeeii e 36,670 12,482
Y=LY= T 22,238 8,904
Chicago Midway International Airport .............c.cc.uveeee. 1,583 9,537
Chicago-O'Hare International Airport ...........ccccevvvevenn. 39,257 2,224
Chicago SKYWaY .........coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e - 15
Total Enterprise FUNdS ...........coovviiiiiiiiiiinieeeiiiineees 99,748 33,162
Fiduciary activities:
PenSion TrUSE .....ccoviiiiiiiei e 123,896 -
Total Fiduciary activities ............cccoevevineviniceeeeeenn, 123,896 -
1] 7= Y $ 1,488,112 $ 1,488,112

The balances result from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and services are provided or
reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and (3) payments
between funds are made.

* The STSC is a blended component unit of the City. The due from balance within the STSC Debt Service fund
relates to the reclassification of amounts as a result of blending deferred outflows. The Due From within the
STSC Debt Service fund and the Due To within the City's Bond, Notes Redemption and Interest fund represent
the sale of sales tax revenues that will be amortized over the duration of the related bonds.
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b) The following balances at December 31, 2017 represent interfund transfers among all funds (dollars in

thousands):
Fund Type/Fund Transfer In Transfer Out
Governmental Funds:
GENETAl ...vvniiiii e $ 180,227 $ 268,263
Special Taxing Ar€as .......covvvvrrireeeeeeiiiineeeeeeiiineeeeeenns 12,042 48,295
Service Concession and RESEIVe ..........cccceeeeeeeeennnnnn. - 21,060
Bond, Note Redemption and Interest ............ccc.cceeeee. 125,023 77,203
STSC Debt Service * ........ouuviiviiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeee - 2,052
Community Development and Improvement Projects ... 17,128 5
PENSION .eiiieiie e 109,416 -
Nonmajor Governmental FUNdS * ...........cccovvviiineeeennns 145,902 170,645
Total Governmental Funds ..............cooovviviiiiiiiiiiinnns 589,738 587,523
Business-type activities:
WALET . - 2,095
S BT ittt - 120
Total Business-type activities ..........cccovvvveeeeeeeennnn. - 2,215
Lo 7 | OSSP $ 589,738 $ 589,738

Transfers are used to move revenues from the fund that the statute or budget requires to collect them to the fund
that the statute or budget requires to expend them and to move receipts restricted to debt service from the funds
collecting the receipts to the debt service fund as debt service payments become due.

* The STSC is a blended component unit of the City. Included within the Transfer Out balance of the Nonmajor
Governmental Funds is the transfer of the residual sales tax revenues from the STSC General Fund (blended as
a nonmajor special revenue fund) to the City's General Fund.
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7) Capital Assets

a) Capital Assets activity for the year ended December 31, 2017 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Balance Additions Disposals Balance
January 1, and and December 31,
2017 Transfers Transfers 2017

Governmental activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

LaNd oo $ 1397316 $ 6,302 $ (3,840) $ 1,399,778

Works of Art and Historical Collections ........ 45,976 1,048 - 47,024

Construction in Progress ..........cccccevvevvevenen. 741,043 409,339 (456,333) 694,049
Total capital assets, not being depreciated ..... 2,184,335 416,689 (460,173) 2,140,851
Capital assets, being depreciated:

Buildings and Other Improvements .............. 2,664,568 38,115 (20,730) 2,681,953

Machinery and Equipment ...........ccccceereeene. 1,523,894 94,277 (15,257) 1,602,914

INFraStrUCTUNE ....ovveiveece e, 9,176,818 404,176 (4,267) 9,576,727
Total capital assets, being depreciated ........... 13,365,280 536,568 (40,254) 13,861,594
Less accumulated depreciation for:

Buildings and Other Improvements .............. 1,079,142 69,379 (1,160) 1,147,361

Machinery and Equipment ..........ccccccoeerinnene 1,284,234 48,397 (14,688) 1,317,943

INFraStrUCTUIE .ovvveveeee e 4,509,986 281,670 (105) 4,791,551
Total accumulated depreciation ....................... 6,873,362 399,446 (15,953) 7,256,855
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net .... 6,491,918 137,122 (24,301) 6,604,739
Total governmental activities ..............c.ccceeuee. $ 8676253 $ 553811 $ (484,474) $ 8,745,590
Business-type activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

LANG .o $ 1,027,752 % 998 % - $ 1,028,750

Construction in Progress ..........ccccceevevvevenen. 1,044,956 1,274,640 (445,909) 1,873,687
Total capital assets, not being depreciated ..... 2,072,708 1,275,638 (445,909) 2,902,437
Capital assets, being depreciated:

Buildings and Other Improvements .............. 18,597,449 626,481 (108,944) 19,114,986

Machinery and Equipment ...........ccccceereeene. 698,497 82,262 (235) 780,524
Total capital assets, being depreciated ........... 19,295,946 708,743 (109,179) 19,895,510
Less accumulated depreciation for:

Buildings and Other Improvements .............. 5,569,441 414,189 (43,578) 5,940,052

Machinery and Equipment ...........ccccceeveeene. 401,658 18,944 (229) 420,373
Total accumulated depreciation ..............cce..... 5,971,099 433,133 (43,807) 6,360,425
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net .... 13,324,847 275,610 (65,372) 13,535,085
Total business-type activities ..............ccceevnanee. $ 15397555 $ 1,551,248 $ (511,281) $ 16,437,522
Total Capital ASSELS .....c.cevevevvcrieiieerececiereie, $ 24,073,808 $ 2105059 $ (995,755) $ 25,183,112
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b) Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the City as follows (dollars in thousands):

Governmental activities:

General GOVEIMMENT .........ccocveveeeeneieee e $ 28,523
PUBIIC Safety ....vvvevieeciie e 44,791
Streets and Sanitation ..........cccceeeeveeeeeeieeiieee e, 15,327
TranSPOrtation ..........eeovcvveeeeiiieeeeiiireeessiee e e sere e e seeaees 290,683
Health ..o 1,611
Cultural and Recreational ...........cccccevveeiienieniiiieeene 18,511
Total Depreciation Expense - Governmental activities .... $ 399,446
Business-type activities:
{AT L= R $ 66,007
SEWET it 44,970
Chicago Midway International Airport ..........cccccecveeiiueeene 51,443
Chicago-O'Hare International Airport ........ccccccccvveeennee. 262,331
Chicago SKYWaY .......ccccoviviieeii e 8,382
Total Depreciation Expense - Business-type activities .... $ 433,133

8) Leases
a) Operating Leases

The City leases building and office facilities under noncancelable operating leases. Total costs for such leases
were approximately $16.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2017.

The future minimum lease payments for these leases are as follows (dollars in thousands):

2018 ... $ 17,098
2019 i, 4,803
2020 oot 3,155
2021 ..o 2,587
2022 ..o 1,914
2023 - 2027 ...oviiiiiii 4,082
2028 - 2032 ....oiiiiiii 109
2033 - 2037 oo, 109
2038 - 2042 ..o 109
Total Future Rental Expense..........c.ccccoeviiieiennns $ 33,966
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b) Lease Receivables

Most of the O’Hare land, buildings and terminal space are leased under operating lease agreements to airlines
and other tenants. The following is a schedule of the minimum future rental income on noncancelable operating
leases as of December 31, 2017 (dollars in thousands):

2008 .ot $ 186,533
2009 i 93,958
2020 et 4,680
2020 4,680
2022 e 4,839
2023 - 2027 .o 24,619
2028 - 2032 ..o 25,300
2033 - 2037 .t 21,199
2038 - 2042 ..o 14,315
2043 - 2047 ..oenie 9,212
Thereafter ...cvv i 6,569
Total Minimum Future Rental Income ...................... $ 395,904

Contingent rentals that may be received under certain leases based on the tenants’ revenues or fuel flow are not
included in minimum future rental income. Rental income for O’Hare, consisting of all rental and concession
revenues except ramp rentals and automobile parking, amounted to $475.4 million, including contingent rentals of
$97.7 million.

Most of the Midway land and terminal space is leased under operating lease agreements to airlines and other
tenants. The following is a schedule of the minimum future rental income on noncancelable operating leases as
of December 31, 2017 (dollars in thousands):

2018 ..o $ 53,004
2019 .. 27,569
2020 ... 27,569
2021 . 27,569
2022 ..t 27,569
2023 - 2027 .oevviiiiiiiii 137,845
Total Minimum Future Rental Income ...................... $ 301,125

Contingent rentals that may be received under certain leases based on tenants’ revenues are not included in
minimum future rental income. Rental income for Midway, consisting of all rental and concession revenues
except aircraft parking fees and certain departure fees (turns) and automobile parking, amounted to $103.5
million, including contingent rentals of $40.2 million.
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9) Long-term Obligations

a) Long-term Debt activity for the year ended December 31, 2017 was as follows (in thousands):

Governmental activities:

Bonds and notes payable:

General obligation and other debt ......................
TaX INCIrEMENT ...eoiiiieiiie et

Add unamortized premium/(discount) ................
Add accretion of capital appreciation bonds ......
Total bonds, notes and certificates payable .......

Other liabilities:

Net pension liability .........ccccovveiiniiniiiienee
Other postemployment benefits obligation .........
Pollution remediation ...........cccccceviieiiieiieee,
Claims and judgments .........ccccoeeeeviieeecine e,
Total other liabilities ............ccoviiiiiiriee,

Total governmental activities ..........ccccceeveevveenne,

Business-type activities:
Revenue bonds and notes payable:

Chicago-O'Hare International Airport .................
Chicago Midway International Airport .................

Add unamortized premium/(discount) ................
Add accretion of capital appreciation bonds ......
Net pension liability ..o

Total business-type activities ..........c.cccoceveeinnene

Total long-term obligations ..........cccccceeeeiveeinnenn.

Amounts
Balance Balance Due
January 1, December 31, within
2017 Additions Reductions 2017 One Year
$ 9,173,009 $ 1237463 $ 723845 $ 9,686,627 $ 114,147
33,520 - 5,595 27,925 5,710
766,628 20,168 532,572 254,224 4,295
- 743,735 - 743,735 -
9,973,157 2,001,366 1,262,012 10,712,511 124,152
118,300 12,161 41,786 88,675 -
318,844 31,374 34,355 315,863 21,553
10,410,301 2,044,901 1,338,153 11,117,049 145,705
31,512,071 - 6,453,078 25,058,993 -
167,209 20,432 - 187,641 -
33,201 1,843 - 35,044 -
942,622 166,436 96,302 1,012,756 110,903
32,655,103 188,711 6,549,380 26,294,434 110,903
$ 43,065,404 $ 2,233612 $ 7,887,533 $ 37,411,483 $ 256,608
$ 2468397 $ 501,214 $ 568606 $ 2,401,006 $ 88,916
1,692,820 460,654 292,093 1,861,381 56,201
7,260,508 2,191,787 806,415 8,645,880 298,185
1,781,605 - 25,770 1,755,835 27,930
13,203,330 3,153,655 1,692,884 14,664,101 471,232
815,420 320,904 95,949 1,040,375 -
85,363 7,397 10,251 82,509 10,584
4,247,194 - 1,262,863 2,984,331 -
$ 18,351,307 $ 3,481,956 $ 3,061,947 $ 18,771,316 $ 481,816
$ 61,416,711 $ 5,715,568  $10,949,480 $ 56,182,799 $ 738,424

The Pension obligation liability will be liquidated through a Special Revenue Fund (Pension Fund) as provided by tax

levy and other operating revenues.
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b)

Issuance of New Debt

i)

i)

iv)

General Obligation Line of Credit

During 2017, the City drew $77.2 million from its Line of Credit to fund certain capital projects and
operating uses. The City has excluded this line of credit amount from current liabilities, as it intends and
has the ability to refinance the obligation on a long-term basis. As of December 31, 2017 the outstanding
balance is $77.2 million and the Line of Credit matures on September 24, 2019.

General Obligation Loans

In February 2017, the City completed a refinancing of the outstanding Michael Reese Loan. The loan has
a fixed interest rate of 3.55%, with a maturity date of June 30, 2024. Principal payments will be made
semi-annually with the first semi-annual principal payment on the refinanced loan due on June 30, 2019.
As of December 31, 2017, the outstanding balance is $72.8 million.

General Obligation Bonds

General Obligation Bonds, Tax Exempt Series 2017A ($886.0 million) and Taxable Series 2017B ($274.3
million) were sold at a discount in January 2017. The bonds have interest rates ranging from 5.625
percent to 7.045 percent and maturity dates from January 1, 2029 to January 1, 2038. Net proceeds of
$1,129.2 million will be used to pay a portion of the costs of 2017 projects ($365.3 million), to refund or
pay current and future interest, and refund a portion of certain outstanding General Obligation bonds
($461.7 million), pay certain judgments and settlements ($225.0 million), and fund capitalized interest
($77.2 million). The refunding of interest only in the amount of $213.4 million is reported as cash held
with escrow agent in the City’'s financials. The refunding of the bonds increased the City’s total debt
service payments by $514.8 million, resulting in a net economic loss of approximately $32.3 million and a
book loss of approximately $2.6 million. A portion of the bond proceeds were deposited in an irrevocable
trust with escrow agents to provide for all future debt service payments for certain outstanding bonds.
Therefore, these bonds are considered to be defeased and the liability for those bonds has been
removed from the government-wide statement of net position.

Revenue Loans

In June 2013, the City entered into a loan agreement with the United States Department of Transportation
under the Transportation Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (TIFIA) program to complete the
Wacker Drive Reconstruction Project. Net proceeds of $96.7 million will fund the Chicago Riverwalk
along the main branch of the Chicago River ($96.6 million) and fund capitalized interest ($191 thousand).
The interest rate is 3.33 percent and the final maturity of the loan is January 1, 2048. Total loan
disbursements made to the City in 2017 were $20.0 million. The final disbursement was made on
December 1, 2017, and no further disbursements will be made. As of December 31, 2017, the final total
outstanding loan amount is $96.7 million. Principal repayment will begin on January 1, 2020 with a final
maturity of January 1, 2048.

Enterprise Fund Revenue Bonds and Notes

In August 2013, the City entered into a loan agreement with the United States Department of
Transportation under the Transportation Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (TIFIA) program to
fund a portion of Consolidated Rental Car Facility at O’Hare, additions